
A N N U A L  R E P O R T 2 0 0 3



G R O U P  K E Y  D ATA

in c million 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 page

Sales 2 664 2 902 2 864 2 777 2 435 22

Profit 23

Net income/loss for the year 151 98 – 198 61 130

Ø Return on average equity in % 29.5 17.6 – 42.1 16.2 28.1

DVFA/SG income/loss 100 65 – 119 26 1) 80

EBITA 262 217 33 2) 110 2) 197 2)

EBITA return in % 9.8 7.5 1.2 2) 4.0 2) 8.1 2)

Balance sheets 25

Balance sheet total 1 603 1 707 1 613 1 551 2 183

Fixed assets 807 869 904 850 1 285

Fixed assets cover in % 67.0 65.7 41.0 45.3 42.2

Cash and cash equivalents 285 321 62 82 299

Equity (excluding retained earnings) 540 571 370 385 542 3)

Equity ratio in % 33.7 33.4 23.0 24.8 27.1 3)

Long-term liabilities 90 67 80 103 196

Capital expenditure 243 204 234 181 158

Depreciation (excluding 99 141 158 116 88

goodwill amortisation)

Cash flow 251 223 46 234 265

Share 4) in c per share 29

DVFA/SG income/loss  2.94 1.92 – 3.50 0.761) 2.38

Dividend  1.43 1.43 – 0.65 1.20

Year-end price 118.5 104.0 58.0 49.2 70.0

Number of employees 27

Annual average 12 504 13 590 14 069 13 203 11 694

1) Adjusted to take account of companies deconsolidated at the end of 2002 and sold at the beginning of 2003.
2) Before extraordinary items.
3) Excluding own shares.
4) Figures for the year 1999 adjusted to the 1:10 share split in 2000 to facilitate comparison.



S E G M E N T S

Newspapers starting on page 34

in c million 2003 2002 20021)

adjusted

Sales 1 377 1 393 1 353

EBITA2) 147 112 105

Depreciation3) 25 36 28

Capital expenditure 23 24 24

Number of employees 5 158 5 799 5 495

Sales breakdown1)

Magazines starting on page 40

in c million 2003 2002 20021)

adjusted

Sales 741 749 734

EBITA2) 40 32 31

Depreciation3) 13 17 17

Capital expenditure 10 19 19

Number of employees 2 826 2 699 2 641

Electronic Media starting on page 52

in c million 2003 2002 20021)

adjusted

Sales 72  111 70

EBITA2) 6 – 18 16

Depreciation3) 4 6 6

Capital expenditure 4 9 9

Number of employees 384 451 415

6 % 
Other countries 

94 % 
Germany 

Sales breakdown1)

26 % 
Other countries  

74 % 
Germany 

Sales breakdown1)

99% 
Germany 

1% 
Other countries  



Printing starting on page 56

in c million 2003 2002 20021)

adjusted

Sales 136  143 138

EBITA2) 2 2  2

Depreciation3) 40 44 44

Capital expenditure 61 80 80

Number of employees 2 640 2 831 2 831

Group 

in c million 2003 2002 20021)

adjusted

Sales 2 435 2 777 2 404

EBITA2) 197 110 121

Depreciation3) 88 116 106

Capital expenditure 158 181 181

Number of employees 11 694 13 203 12 094

Sales breakdown1)

28 % 
Other countries  

72 %
Germany 

Sales breakdown1)

14 % 
Other countries  

86 % 
Germany 

1) Adjusted to take account of the changes in the companies consolidated.
2) EBITA has been adjusted for extraordinary items. 
3) The depreciation figures do not include goodwill amortisation.
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The 2003 financial year was a very successful one for Axel

Springer AG. We were able to raise profitability substantially

over the previous year despite the ongoing crisis in the

media sector. Our successes are the result of continued

restructuring efforts combined with the stabilization of sales.

Despite the difficult economic environment, we were able to

successfully launch new publications, which have been well-

received by the reading public. The bottom line is that we

have been able to increase profit by cutting costs, strength-

ening existing publications and successfully launching new

products.

The results for the past financial year point to a very 

encouraging development. Earnings before Interest, Tax and

Amortization (EBITA), excluding special items such as the

proceeds from divestments, nearly doubled over 2002 to 

a 196.8 million despite only a slight increase in sales.

Especially gratifying is the fact that the significant increase

in earnings in 2003 is due exclusively to the positive develop-

ment of our core business. This confirms that our chosen

course of action is correct. 

Efforts taken at an early stage to cut costs, streamline our

portfolio and boost efficiency have paid off. Consolidated net

income for the year more than doubled from a 61.2 million to

a 130.2 million. Despite the buyback of 10% of our shares

for a 184.6 million, the Group was able to turn the previous

year’s net debt of a 15.3 million into a positive balance 

a 99.4 million at the end of the financial year. This sound

basis provides us with the flexibility needed to make sub-

stantial investments in new business activities.

My special thanks go to our dedicated employees for their

untiring support for the course chosen by the company. 

Their outstanding performance underlies the encouraging

results achieved by the Group. Their positive attitude toward

change is evidence that Axel Springer has the ability and

desire to energetically, creatively and successfully tackle the 

challenges posed by the difficult market environment.

FOREWORD REPOR T  BY  THE  SUPER V ISORY  BOARD BOARD MEMBERS
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Allow me to summarize the most important measures taken

in 2003:

During the past two years Axel Springer has divested 

numerous operations because of their unsatisfactory yield

outlook or lack of strategic significance. The most important

divestments of the past year include the book business, press

logistic service provider Overbruck, stakes in TV production

companies and the sale of our stake in Interactive Media.

The number of employees in our remaining business sectors

was reduced by 400 in 2003 to 11 694 (–3.3%). Since August

2001 the number of employees was reduced by 2 631 em-

ployees (– 18.7%) to 11 463 employees as of January 2004.

All cost-cutting measures combined resulted in savings of 

a 137 million in 2002 and another a 74 million in 2003.

The opening of our new building in Berlin’s old newspaper

district in January 2004 gives the company a decisive edge

in the long term. The new location will help us maximize

our publishing and business successes. In August 2003 we

began transferring all central Group control and service

functions to our headquarters in Berlin as further important

step in the internal consolidation process. The concentration

of management functions in a single location helps to further

lower administrative costs. Our printing facility reinvestment

program has for the most part been completed. 

Last year Axel Springer introduced new publications against

the prevailing industry trend. A total of eight new publications

and five license agreements were launched in Germany and

other countries in 2003. The biggest project was our entry

into the Polish daily newspaper market with the launch of

the tabloid FAKT. The circulation of this new publication

jumped to over 500 000 in only two short months, thereby

establishing it as Poland’s largest newspaper. The success of

FAKT is of strategic importance, because this is the first

time that Axel Springer has successfully implemented a mass

market concept outside Germany comparable to the BILD

Zeitung. 

Axel Springer Russia was founded in preparation for entry

into the Russian market. The global expansion of the AUTO

BILD group continued with the conclusion of five new

licensing agreements in Finland, Ukraine, Estonia, Mace-

donia and Indonesia. As of March 2004 AUTO BILD is

published in a total of 19 national editions, thereby making

it the world’s most widely circulated car magazine.

FOREWORD
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AUDIO VIDEO FOTO BILD was one of the most successful

new magazine launches of the past year. Our new monthly

publication exceeded all expectations when sales of the very

first issue in December 2003 topped 600 000 copies. With

almost 400 000 copies JOLIE became a very successful new

introduction in the segment for young women’s magazines.

Axel Springer continued its offensive of founding new pub-

lications with the monthly magazine, the weekly magazine

FRAU von HEUTE and the launches of GESUNDHEITS BILD

and REISE BILD.

Also of importance to the future of the company are changes

in the shareholder structure. In keeping with its divestment

strategy, Deutsche Bank sold its stake in Axel Springer of

almost 30%. The American investment company Hellman &

Friedman became the second-largest shareholder upon 

acquiring a 19.4% stake in the company. Axel Springer AG

acquired an additional 10% of the company’s shares through

a stock buyback offer extended to all the shareholders. The

buyback enables the company to benefit from the increase in

value of the company by selling or using its own shares as

acquisition currency.

Axel Springer is in very good shape. We are in an excellent

position to take on the structural challenges in the various

media markets. We will continue to systematically pursue

our strategic objectives of market leadership in our core

business in German-speaking regions as well as the 

globalization and digitization of our core business. We will 

continue to grow profitably in 2004 while adhering to our

journalistic principles. We invite you to join us in the pursuit

of these objectives!

Dr Mathias Döpfner

CEO

FOREWORD REPOR T  BY  THE  SUPER V ISORY  BOARD BOARD MEMBERS
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Dr Giuseppe Vita



The main issues dealt with by the Supervisory Board during

the 2003 financial year were:

• Increasing company profitability despite the ongoing

structural crisis in the industry by continuing to carry 

out restructuring measures;

• Expanding and protecting the company’s core brands;

• Safeguarding the future of the company by launching 

new publications in Germany and other countries;

• Decisions regarding transfer restrictions connected with

the placement of the block of shares held by Deutsche

Bank and the acquisition of 10% of the company’s own

shares.

German Corporate Governance Code
The Supervisory Board discussed implementing the recom-

mendations contained in the revised version of the German

Corporate Governance Code, which took effect on July 4,

2003; it reviewed the efficiency of the work of the Super-

visory Board at its meeting on December 12, 2003.

The Supervisory Board monitored the execution of company

business by the Management Board in accordance with legal

stipulations and the provisions of the company’s articles of

association in the year under review. The Supervisory Board

was provided with detailed and regular information on the

current situation and future development of the company,

important business transactions and risk management at its

own meetings, at the meetings of its committees and through

written and oral reports by the Management Board. The

Management Board also kept the Supervisory Board in-

formed about events of particular importance between 

meetings; the chairman of the Supervisory Board and the

chairman of the Management Board met regularly to discuss

company operations.

The Management Board was consulted on matters of great

importance to the company, such as decisions regarding 

corporate planning, strategic objectives, personnel planning

and major investment projects. The Supervisory Board also

discussed significant individual matters of particular impor-

tance for the further development of the company. It made

decisions on legal matters and measures, which require its

approval in accordance with legal stipulations, the provisions

of the company’s articles of association and the rules of 

procedure of the Management Board. This applies in

particular to the company’s budget planning.

7
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In December 2003 the Management Board and the Super-

visory Board issued their joint statement of compliance in

accordance with § 161 of the Stock Corporation Act (AktG)

and made it available on the company website on a perma-

nent basis. Axel Springer AG complies with the recommen-

dations to a very large extent. The statement of compliance

appears on page 66 of this Annual Report.

Supervisory Board committees
The Supervisory Board has an executive committee, a per-

sonnel committee and an audit committee. The Supervisory

Board held a total of five meetings in the period under 

review: three meetings during the first half of the calendar

year and two meetings during the second half of the calendar

year. The executive committee, whose responsibilities include

publishing and journalistic matters as well as issues relating

to strategy, corporate planning, investments and the financing

thereof (notwithstanding the responsibilities of the Super-

visory Board as a whole), held six meetings in the period

under review. The personnel committee, whose responsi-

bilities include the conclusion, alteration and termination

employment contracts with the members of the Management

Board, held one meeting during the period under review.

The audit committee prepared the decisions of the Super-

visory Board concerning the adoption of the financial state-

ments and approval of the consolidated financial statements,

reviewed the interim statements and/or interim report, dis-

cussed issues in connection with the auditors and examined

risk management issues and the activities of the internal

auditor. The audit committee held three meetings in 2003.

The chairman of the Supervisory Board is chairman of the

executive committee, the personnel committee and the audit

committee.

Financial statements and 
consolidated financial statements
PwC Deutsche Revision Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschafts-

prüfungsgesellschaft, Hamburg, audited the financial state-

ments and consolidated financial statements prepared by

the Management Board as well as the management report

and consolidated management report for the 2003 financial

year and issued an unqualified opinion thereof. The audi-

tors issued a summary in which they concluded that the

Management Board has established a risk management system

that complies with legal regulations and that this system, in

principle, is capable of detecting at an early stage develop-

ments that could threaten the existence of the company.

The aforementioned documents, the proposal made by the

Management Board regarding appropriation of the retained

earnings and the audit reports by PwC Deutsche Revision

Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft were

punctually submitted to all the members of the Supervisory

Board. The documents were discussed in detail at the 

REPORT BY  THE  SUPERV ISORY BOARD
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meeting of the audit committee on February 25, 2004, and

the meeting of the Supervisory Board on February 25, 2004,

both of which were attended by the auditors. The auditors

reported on the main results of their audit on both occasions.

The Supervisory Board acknowledged and approved the

results of the audit. Following its own internal review the

Supervisory Board found no grounds to challenge the

results. The Supervisory Board approved the financial 

statements and consolidated financial statements prepared 

by the Management Board. The financial statements of Axel

Springer AG have thereby been adopted.

The Supervisory Board agrees with the proposal made by

the Management Board concerning the appropriation of the

retained earnings.

The Management Board also provided the Supervisory

Board with the report on relationships with affiliated com-

panies in accordance with § 312 of the Stock Corporation

Act (AktG). The audit report prepared by PwC Deutsche

Revision Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft,

Hamburg, was also made available to the Supervisory Board.

The audit report reads as follows:

“Following our conscientious audit and evaluation we con-

firm that

1. the factual details of the report are correct,

2. the amounts paid by the company for legal transactions

listed in the report were not unreasonably high.”

The Supervisory Board also reviewed this report by the

Management Board. It acknowledged and approved the 

auditors report on the report by the Management Board. 

Following the completion of its own internal review, the

Supervisory Board agrees with the declaration made by the

Management Board about the report in accordance with 

§ 312 paragraph 3 of the Stock Corporation Act (AktG).

Changes in membership of the Supervisory Board
Brian M. Powers was appointed to the Supervisory Board 

by order of the District Court of Berlin-Charlottenburg on

November 24, 2003. His term of office expires at the end 

of the next annual shareholders’ meeting, at which time a

regular election will be held by shareholders at the annual

shareholders’ meeting.

Berlin, February 25, 2004

The Supervisory Board

Dr Giuseppe Vita

Chairman

FOREWORD REPORT BY  THE  SUPERV ISORY BOARD BOARD MEMBERS
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From left to right:

Dr Mathias Döpfner

CEO

Head of the Newspapers Division

Rudolf Knepper

Deputy Chairman of the Management Board 

Head of the Printing and Logistics Division

Hubertus Meyer-Burckhardt

Head of the Electronic Media Division

Steffen Naumann

Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer

Dr Andreas Wiele

Head of the Magazines and International Divisions

B O A R D  M E M B E R S

MANAGEMENT 
BOARD
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Dr Giuseppe Vita

Chairman

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Schering AG, Berlin

Dr h.c. Friede Springer

Deputy Chairwoman

Businesswoman, Berlin

Dr Gerhard Cromme

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of 

ThyssenKrupp AG, Essen

Leonhard H. Fischer

Member of the Management Board of Crédit Suisse Group

and CEO of the Winterthur Group, Winterthur, Switzerland

Klaus Krone

Businessman, Berlin

Dr Michael Otto

Chairman of the Management Board of Otto (GmbH & Co),

Hamburg

Brian M. Powers

Chief Executive Officer of the investment group 

Hellman & Friedman, LLC, San Francisco, California, USA

(since November 24, 2003)

Axel Sven Springer

Journalist, Hamburg

Dr Joachim Theye

Zurich, Switzerland

SUPERVISORY BOARD
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ECONOMIC ENVIRONMENT

German economy still stagnant
In 2003, the Gross Domestic Product in Germany, the most

important market for the Axel Springer Group, remained at

practically the same level as in the previous year at a 1 987

billion (– 0.1%). The slow recovery of the global economy

and the Iraq conflict depressed economic activity. The strong

euro also caused a reduction in the international competitive-

ness of the Germany economy.

The small increases in income, the higher risk of redundancy

and continuing uncertainty about the social security systems

led to a slight decrease (– 0.2%) of expenditure on private

consumption. Private households’ disposable income went

up slightly by 0.9%. Consumer prices were 1.1% higher. The

savings ratio rose again by 0.2 percentage points to 10.8%.

The small increase of 0.7% in state expenditure on con-

sumption did not boost the economy noticeably.

Due to a decline in demand in Euroland and the strong euro,

export growth decreased to 1.1% (previous year: 3.4%). The

export balance was lower because of 2.0% higher imports.

The stagnant economy also suffered from a decline in invest-

ments in 2003: capital expenditure on plant and equipment

fell in real terms by 4.0%. The drop in capital investment on

buildings continued with a reduction of 3.4%, due to the

large amount of empty housing, low increases in private

household incomes and the need for economies in public

budgets.

In the 2003 financial year, Axel Springer succeeded in
increasing the EBITA from c 121.2 million in 2002 (ad-
justed) to c 196.8 million in 2003. The consolidated net
income doubled from c 63.9 million in 2002 (adjusted) to
c 130.2 million, in spite of the stagnant economy and
market environment. This improvement in earnings is
attributable essentially to the successful implementation
of the restructuring program that was initiated in 2001
and to an increase in retail revenues. Compared to the
certified consolidated financial statements for the 
previous year, EBITA were c 86.5 million higher (from 
c 110.3 million in 2002), while the consolidated net in-
come doubled from c 61.2 million (+ c 69.0 million com-
pared to 2002). Assuming a recovery of the advertising
markets, the Management Board expects that sales for
2004 will increase slightly over 2003. In spite of this, the
Management Board expects lower EBITA in 2004 com-
pared to 2003, since the Company plans the introduction
of new magazines and newspapers.  

Preliminary remark
The following management report comprises statements

regarding the development of the Axel Springer Group,

which are essentially also applicable for the development 

of Axel Springer AG.

Changes in the companies consolidated
The deconsolidation of the companies sold led to changes in

the companies consolidated over the previous year. This had

no major impact on net worth and the financial position. In

order to improve comparability, the effects of the changes in

the companies consolidated have been eliminated for the

2002 financial year (adjusted figures) in the comments on

the earnings situation. The comments on net worth and the

financial position are based on the figures published for the

2002 financial year (certified figures).

ECONOMIC  ENV IRONMENT BUS INESS  DEVELOPMENT     F INANC IAL  S ITUAT ION  

PERSONNEL     SHARE     R ISK  MANAGEMENT     OUTLOOK
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Breakdown of

advertising revenues in 2003

1999 2000 20012) 2002 2003

Newspapers

(excluding classified ads) 3 777 4 219 3 808 3 720 4 100

General-interest magazines 3 712 4 176 4 049 3 756 3 676

Special-interest magazines 447 461 396 402 391

Television 6 942 7 978 7 567 7 247 7 444

Radio 967 1 043 934 897 916

Posters 427 469 467 499 532

Advertising revenues in

the classic media 16 272 18 346 17 221 16 521 17 059

Internet 3) – – 212 256 265

Total 16 272 18 346 17 433 16 777 17 324

1) Changes in the previous years’ figures are possible due to statistic

distortions in recording new publications.
2) A direct comparison with the previous year is not possible because of

statistical distortions due to the inclusion of new publications/stations.
3) Has been recorded since 2001.

Source: Nielsen Media Research.

Advertising revenues

Gross advertising expenditure1) in c million
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The situation on the job market deteriorated again. The 

average number of employees over the year went down by

392 000 (– 1.0%), while the number of unemployed rose by

7.8% to 4.4 million. The unemployment rate was at 10.5%

(previous year: 9.8%).

Retail press markets decline
Retail sales decreased by 1% in both nominal and real terms

and thus went down for the second year in a row. Price

reductions and discount campaigns were used to overcome

customers’ reluctance to spend. The newspaper and maga-

zine markets recorded volume losses of 4%. Overall press

sales remained almost stable because of the successful en-

forcement of subscription and newsstand price increases.

The number of newspapers registered with the circulation

auditing organisation IVW decreased by 6 to 381. The total

paid circulation of daily and Sunday newspapers as recorded

by IVW dropped by 2.7% to 26.7 million per publication

day. Newsstand sales again recorded disproportionately large

losses of 4.4%, while subscription circulation was down

2.2%. The number of general-interest magazines registered

with IVW fell by 12 to 809. Total sales per issue went up

1.2% to 125.2 million copies. The reduction of 1.9% in

newsstand sales was compensated for by an increase of 3.2%

in subscription sales. It needs to be taken into account in

assessing these statistics that the subscription circulation

figures to an increasing extent also include club and mem-

bership magazines, which do not compete on the free market.

Sales promotion campaigns involving the inclusion of CDs

or CD-ROMs and price reductions (some of them for limited

periods of time) were used more intensively as marketing

instruments to stimulate demand on the magazine market.

High price pressure depressed the market for weekly women’s

magazines in particular, in which new low-priced products

were launched.

Reduction in classified ads business depresses
advertising market
Gross advertising expenditure by branded goods manu-

facturers, service providers and major retailers increased by

3.3% to a 17.1 billion in 2003. Classified ads business,

which is crucial to newspapers, continued to decline.

Advertising expenditure developed differently from industry

to industry. The growth drivers included the retail trade and

mail-order companies as well as the IT/communication, per-

sonal products and photographic/optical products industries.

Advertising expenditure in the areas of finance, audio and

video, tourism, beverages, pharmaceuticals and cleaning

products were, on the other hand, reduced considerably.

Gross advertising revenues generated by the print media

(excluding classified ads) increased by 3.7% to a 8.2 bil-

lion. Newspaper advertising revenues (excluding classified

ads) were 10.2% higher, stimulated in particular by a large

increase in advertising by discount chains. This development

was, however, offset by a further reduction in classified ads

business. Compared to the prior year period, employment ad

volume dropped by 36.5% (Jan. – Nov. 2003). There was a

substantial reduction in classified real estate, car and event

ads too. 

ECONOMIC  ENV IRONMENT BUS INESS  DEVELOPMENT     F INANC IAL  S ITUAT ION  

PERSONNEL     SHARE     R ISK  MANAGEMENT     OUTLOOK
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BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT

Axel Springer doubled consolidated net income
In spite of further substantial drops in classified ads busi-

ness and other sub-segments of the advertising business 

Axel Springer increased sales to a 2 434.7 million, which

represents an increase by 1.3% over the adjusted figures of

the previous year. Compared with the certified consolidated

financial statements for the 2002 financial year, this repre-

sents a reduction of a 341.9 million (– 12.3%).

The restructuring program that was introduced at the end of

2001 was continued systematically in the 2003 financial

year. Further portfolio streamlining, successful implemen-

tation of planned personnel reduction by 10% by the end 

of 2003 and the initiation of another cost reduction program

to cut administration and overhead costs led to substantial

earnings growth. EBITA went up from a 121.2 million

(adjusted) to a 196.8 million. The consolidated net income

doubled to a 130.2 million compared with the adjusted 

figures for the 2002 financial year. This represents an in-

crease of a 86.5 million in EBITA over the certified figures

2002 (a 110.3 million) and doubling the consolidated net

income from a 61.2 million (+ a 69.0 million compared to

2002).

Existing core business strengthened
Axel Springer AG expanded its core newspaper and maga-

zine business successfully in a continued difficult overall

market environment. Existing publications strengthened 

their market position and several improved their position as

market leader in the core German-speaking business.

Gross advertising income by general-interest magazines was

a 78.5 million (– 2.1%) lower in the year under review at 

a 3.7 billion. The reductions were largest with the business

press (– 19.4%), online and computer magazines (– 11.1%),

lifestyle magazines (– 3.9%) and TV guides (– 3.8%). Wo-

men’s magazines, which generate a great deal of advertising

business, increased their advertising revenues by 5.3%.

Commercial television increased sales by 2.7% to 

a 7.4 billion. Radio advertising expenditure was 2.1% 

higher than in the previous year.

According to estimates published in the European Adver-

tising & Media Forecast (December 2003), the European

advertising market succeeded in reversing the negative trend

of the previous year (– 2.7%) by generating nominal growth

of 1.2%. Whereas the print media (including classified ads)

stayed at the same level as in the previous year, television

advertising revenues increased by 2.2%. Print media adver-

tising revenues in France were slightly lower than the Euro-

pean average (+ 0.3%) with a small reduction of – 0.6% and

a drop of – 1.6% was reported in Switzerland. The growth

rates recorded by the print media on the Eastern European

market, which is important to Axel Springer, were con-

siderably higher than the European average. While total

advertising revenues in Poland and the Czech Republic went

up by 5.4% and 3.5% respectively, advertising revenue

growth of 17.3% over the previous year was recorded in

Hungary. 

MANAGEMENT REPORT
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BILD, the biggest daily newspaper in Europe, emphasized 

its market position by increasing advertising business, 

successfully enforcing a sizable price increase and extending

its reach. The ongoing success of the BILD brand was con-

firmed in addition by the positive development of the entire

BILD group with the publications BILD, BILD am SONNTAG,

SPORT BILD and the BILD special-interest magazines TIER

BILD, GESUNDHEITS BILD and REISE BILD.

Combination of the editorial staff of DIE WELT and BER-

LINER MORGENPOST led not only to a substantial reduction

in costs but also to a sustained improvement in the editorial

quality of both newspapers. Thanks to its strong readership,

HAMBURGER ABENDBLATT successfully defended its posi-

tion as the most important marketplace for employment ads,

real estate ads, travel and retail ads in Northern Germany

once more.

Existing magazines were expanded again systematically.

HÖRZU won market share and reinforced its position as mar-

ket leader for weekly TV guides. BILD der FRAU increased

its reach again and confirmed its position as market leader

with 5.26 million readers. AUTO BILD strengthened its posi-

tion as the biggest newsstand car magazine in Europe. With

a reach of 3.5 million readers, COMPUTER BILD maintained

its position as unchallenged market leader and generated the

highest retail sales since it was launched. The MAXIM brand

was expanded again by launching the special fashion issue

MAXIM FASHION and by introducing the television format

MAXIM TV.

In order to tackle the strategic challenges in the market for

family magazines, Axel Springer AG has established a joint

venture with OZ-Verlags-GmbH to publish both partners’

family magazines, thereby creating the basis for becoming

the leading publisher of family and children’s magazines in 

Germany.

Expansion process inside and outside Germany
Axel Springer expanded its portfolio and increased market

share by launching five new magazines in Germany as well

as three new publications and five licensed editions in other

countries.

The weekly magazine FRAU von HEUTE was launched in the

low price segment to strengthen the market position in the

women’s magazine market. The youth and music magazine

publishing company Axel Springer Young Mediahouse 

launched the women’s magazine JOLIE for young readers,

exceeding the expectations in both advertising and retail

business.

The COMPUTER BILD group launched AUDIO VIDEO FOTO

BILD in 2003, thus entering the consumer electronics maga-

zine segment. The BILD am SONNTAG editorial staff 

developed the special-interest magazines REISE BILD and

GESUNDHEITS BILD in the year under review and launched

them on the market successfully.
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The newsstand daily newspaper FAKT, which was launched

in the year under review, established itself as the biggest

daily newspaper in Poland only two months after it started.

Axel Springer Budapest introduced the weekly women’s

magazine FANNY in the low price segment of the Hungarian

women’s magazine market in 2003. Axel Springer Praha

launched the biweekly magazine SVET POCITACU, which is

based on the magazine COMPUTER BILD. Axel Springer set

up an independent subsidiary to prepare for entering the

market in Russia.

The licensing business was also expanded: the AUTO BILD

group started three more licensed editions in Indonesia, the

Ukraine and Macedonia. Two further licensing agreements

were concluded in the year under review with the aim of

publishing AUTO BILD in Finland and Estonia from March

2004 onwards. The successful AUTO BILD brand will then

be appearing in 19 countries.

Growth on foreign markets
Sales outside Germany increased from a 330.0 million to 

a 331.7 million. The substantial growth generated in some

of the business operations in individual Eastern European

countries is not reflected in the sales figures due to the

increase in the value of the euro. Sales outside Germany

went up by a 22.2 million (+ 6.7%) if exchange rate 

fluctuations are eliminated. This growth was attributable not

only to the new publications but also to expansion of the 

existing operations in France, Poland and Hungary as well as

to consolidation of the Czech activities for the first time.

Online products expanded successfully
Axel Springer strengthened its position on the online classi-

fied ads market and introduced e-paper versions of existing

newspapers for the first time.

The joint venture BILD.T-ONLINE.DE reinforced its strong

market position as a cross-media general-interest portal.

Cross-media programs, a combination of online promotion

campaigns, weekly supplements and special BILD supple-

ments, were continued successfully. Especially the “Volks”

projects, in which price-sensitive products were offered in 

liaison with co-operation partners, contributed to the con-

tinued positive development.

Ring Deutscher Makler e.V. (RDM) and Axel Springer 

combined their online real estate operations in the joint real

estate portal IMMONET. This real estate platform established

itself as one of the largest internet real estate portals in 

the German-speaking world in the year under review and

developed numerous positions as regional market leader

thanks to a partner network.

AUTOBILD.DE, the Axel Springer AG car portal, continued to

develop very successfully in the year under review, reaching

the largest number of page impressions and the highest

recognition level since it was launched.

Axel Springer opened an online newsstand of its own as the

central platform for the company’s newspapers and magazines

at the Web address www.newsstand.de with the papers DIE

WELT and WELT am SONNTAG.

MANAGEMENT REPORT



21

ECONOMIC  ENV IRONMENT BUSINESS  DEVELOPMENT F INANC IAL  S ITUAT ION  

PERSONNEL     SHARE     R ISK  MANAGEMENT     OUTLOOK 

Extensive capital expenditure on tangible assets
Axel Springer AG’s extensive reinvestment program in the

printing technology was largely finished. The reinvestments

made to modernize the Ahrensburg rotogravure printing

plant comprehensively were almost completed. The ex-

tension project at the Berlin-Spandau offset printing plant

that started last year was ended and the new printing and

processing machines were put into operation on schedule.

The second phase of the rebuilding exercise that was neces-

sary in Essen-Kettwig was also completed to a large extent.

Construction of the new office building in Berlin went

according to plan. Axel Springer opened the building, which

consists of the Ullstein Hall and the Axel Springer Mall, on

January 13, 2004.

Cost-cutting projects implemented
The cost-cutting program that was continued successfully in

the 2003 financial year led to a reduction in costs of a 74.3

million in the 2003 financial year. These savings are attribut-

able mainly to a further decrease in personnel thanks to pro-

cess optimization and higher productivity, the focus on prof-

itable orders and intensification of cost control measures in

the overheads sector.

Portfolio streamlining exercise continued
Further non-strategic operations were eliminated from the

portfolio in the year under review.

In view of the further decline in sales on the German book

market and the unsatisfactory yield prospects, Axel Springer

has withdrawn from the book business almost completely.

Ullstein Heyne List was sold effective as of January 1, 2003:

mostly to Random House and partly to Bonnier, following

restructuring measures that were necessary in order to comply

with cartel legislation. The German cartel authorities have

approved the sales transactions. The sale of the books busi-

ness has already been completed. The Weltbild Group has

appealed to the cartel senate at the higher regional court in

Düsseldorf against the decision taken by the German cartel

authorities in favour of Random House and has requested

that the transactions are stopped. Random House has assumed

the risk involved in the cartel proceedings in accordance

with the contractual agreements. The book and magazine

publishing group Weltkunst was sold to Arques Time AG.

A co-operation agreement for several years was signed

with the Thiel Logistik Group to facilitate long-term 

optimization of the logistic costs. Axel Springer AG sold the

service provider "Overbruck Spedition GmbH" to the Thiel

Logistik Group. The agreement stipulates that Overbruck

will provide the same services as in the past to Axel Springer

for a period of at least five years.

The holdings in the TV production companies Multimedia,

Cinecentrum, Studio Berlin Metropol and Studio Hamburg

Produktion für Film und Fernsehen were sold to the partner

Studio Hamburg. The interest in the online marketing 

company Interactive Media CCSP AG was sold to T-Online

International.
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Sales by sectors
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FINANCIAL SITUATION

Sales stabilization due to retail revenues
Consolidated sales increased in 2003 by a 31.0 million 

(+ 1.3%) to a 2 434.7 million, compared with the adjusted

sales in 2002. This represents a reduction in sales of 

a 341.9 million (– 12.3%) compared with the certified

financial statements for the 2002 financial year. The sales

generated outside Germany rose by a 1.7 million (+ 0.5%)

to a 331.7 million. They accounted for 13.6% of Group

sales.

Advertising revenues were down by a 25.4 million (– 2.6%).

They amounted to a 954.6 million and accounted for 39.2%

of total sales.

Retail revenues increased by a 56.9 million (+ 5.1%) to 

a 1 163.2 million. Both the newspapers and the magazines

contributed to this performance. Retail revenues accounted

for 47.8% of total sales.

Newspapers – substantial increase 
in retail revenues
The newspapers were once again the main source of sales 

in the Group, accounting for 56.5% of total sales. News-

paper sales increased by a 24.1 million (+ 1.8%) to a total

of a 1 376.8 million in the year under review.

Newspaper advertising sales decreased by a 22.3 million 

(– 3.1%) to a 688.1 million. The increase at BILD com-

pensated only partly for the decline recorded by the news-

papers HAMBURGER ABENDBLATT, BERLINER MORGEN-

POST, DIE WELT and WELT am SONNTAG.

The newspapers increased their retail revenues by

a 46.4 million (+ 7.2%) to a 688.7 million. Although this

encouraging development was attributable to nearly all the

newspapers, BILD, HAMBURGER ABENDBLATT, BILD am

SONNTAG and DIE WELT were the main contributors.
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Higher magazine sales
The magazines increased their sales by a 7.4 million

(+ 1.0%) to a 741.0 million in the 2003 financial year,

representing 30.4% of total sales.

Advertising revenues decreased by a 3.1 million (– 1.2%)

and amounted to a 266.5 million. An increase in revenue

generated by new magazines, the youth magazines and some

of the publications outside Germany compensated partly for

the reductions recorded by the other magazines.

Retail sales amounted to a 474.5 million and were 

a 10.5 million (+ 2.3%) higher than in the previous year.

This increase was due mainly to the positive development 

of the publications outside Germany and the computer and

youth magazines in Germany.

Slight decrease in other revenues
The other revenues decreased by a 0.5 million (– 0.2%) to

a 316.9 million. The electronic media increased their sales

by a 1.8 million (+ 2.6%) to a 72.0 million. This was due

to higher sales by BILD.T-ONLINE.DE and the revenues 

generated by IMMONET. Contract printing revenues were 

a 2.2 million (– 1.6%) lower. The reduction in merchandise

sales amounted to a 2.4 million (– 5.8%).

Substantial increase in EBITA
Axel Springer increased its EBITA from a 121.2 million in

2002 (adjusted) to a 196.8 million in the 2003 financial

year. Compared with the certified financial statements for

the 2002 financial year, this corresponds to an increase of 

a 86.5 million from a 110.3 million (+ 78.4% year-on-

year). The improvement in earnings by continued operations

was mainly attributable to the increase in sales and to the

cost-cutting activities.

Consolidated net income doubled
The consolidated net income for the year doubled from 

a 63.9 million in 2002 (adjusted) to a 130.2 million. It 

contains scheduled and unscheduled goodwill amortization

from capital consolidation of a 40.7 million and extra-

ordinary items, particularly profits from the sale of equity

holdings of a 29.7 million. Consolidated net income in-

creased by a 69.0 million compared with the certified

financial statements for the previous year. The net income

for the year of the Axel Springer AG alone increased from 

a 83.2 million to a 161.8 million.

The DVFA/SG result amounted to a 80.1 million (previous

year: a 26.0 million). The DVFA/SG earnings per share

were a 2.38. This calculation is based on the weighted 

average number of shares issued (33 627 397), in which the

purchase of 3 400 000 shares by Axel Springer AG on

November 21, 2003 has been taken into account.

The effects of the cancellation of § 308 paragraph 3 of the

old version of the HGB were not included in calculation of

the DVFA/SG result for the 2002 financial year for practical

reasons.

Increase in added value
Total Group output was a 52.3 million (– 2.0%) lower than

in the previous year at a 2 603.0 million. Total intermediate

input, which consists of the costs of materials, depreciation

and other operating expenses, amounted to a 1 568.6 mil-

lion. This means that added value was a 1 034.4 million,

which corresponds to an increase from 36.0% to 39.7%.

Most of the added value (80.9%) was passed on to employees;

5.6% were paid in taxes, while 4.7% were transferred to

reserves. Shareholders received 7.8% and lenders 1.0%.

ECONOMIC  ENV IRONMENT BUS INESS  DEVELOPMENT     F INANCIAL  S ITUAT ION 
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Balance sheets structure
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High level of capital expenditure
Capital expenditure in the 2003 financial year amounted to

a 158.1 million (previous year: a 180.6 million).

Most of the capital expenditure on intangible assets related

to rights and licenses (a 10.4 million). The investments in

this area were a 4.1 million lower than in the previous year.

Axel Springer invested a 139.3 million in tangible assets,

which was a 17.1 million less than in the previous year. 

The emphases in the capital investment program were

modernization of the printing plants and the new building 

in Berlin.

Investments in financial assets amounted to a 8.4 million

(a 1.3 million lower than in the previous year) and related 

to the financing and acquisition of equity holdings and 

interests in affiliated companies.

Depreciation (excluding goodwill amortization) totalled 

a 87.7 million in 2003. In the previous year, depreciation

(adjusted, excluding goodwill amortization) amounted to 

a 105.9 million in the previous year. The reduction is due to

lower depreciation of financial assets and changes in valua-

tion following implementation of the provisions of the Ger-

man Transparency and Disclosure Act.

Balance sheet structure
The consolidated balance sheet total amounted to a 2 182.8

million and was a 631.8 million (+ 40.7%) higher than in

the previous year.

Fixed assets increased by a 434.2 million (+ 51.1%) to 

a 1 284.5 million. The increase in tangible assets of 

a 510.6 million (+ 97.5%) to a 1 034.5 million was attribut-

able mainly to the changes in valuation that were made with

effect from January 1, 2003 in connection with the German

Transparency and Disclosure Act (+ a 452.8 million). There

were also extensive investments in printing plants and the

new building in Berlin. The reduction of a 60.7 million 

(– 27.4%) in the intangible assets to a 161.2 million was

due essentially to depreciation and disposals because of 

the deconsolidation of companies. The financial assets were

a 15.7 million (– 15.0%) lower at a 88.8 million because 

of portfolio streamlining and initial consolidation.

The current assets (including prepaid expenses) increased 

by a 197.6 million (+ 28.2%) to a 898.3 million. The 

reduction of a 86.6 million (– 63.2%) in inventories to 

a 50.4 million is attributable essentially to the changes in

the companies consolidated. The accounts receivable and

other assets decreased by a 119.7 million (– 25.1%) to 

a 356.9 million. The increase in securities to a 189.1 million

is due to the acquisition of company shares for a 184.6 million.

Cash and cash equivalents increased by a 218.4 million 

(+ 285.9%) to a 294.8 million.

Stockholders’ equity (excluding retained earnings) was 

a 341.3 million higher (a 276.5 million of this increase

being attributable to changes made in connection with the

German Transparency and Disclosure Act) and amounted 

to a 726.8 million. The equity ratio increased to 27.1% 

(previous year: 24.8%) after elimination of the company-

owned shares. Fixed assets cover (the ratio of equity to

fixed assets) went down to 42.2% (previous year: 45.3%)

after elimination of the company-owned shares.

Medium- and long-term liabilities increased by a 293.7 mil-

lion to a 734.2 million. Short-term debt decreased by a 3.2

million to a 721.8 million.
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Personnel cost structure in 2003
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Increase in cash flow
The flows of funds at the company are divided up into the

three different areas of business, investment and financing

activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows, which

was compiled in accordance with the German accounting

standard no. 2 (DRS 2). Marketable securities as well as

cash and cash equivalents are shown as company liquidity in

the funds at the end of the statement.

The cash flow1) amounted to a 264.6 million, up from 

a 234.3 million in 2002 because of the positive development

of the business. Taking the change in working capital into

consideration, the cash flow from current business activities

was a 307.8 million.

Due to lower investments in financial assets and the large

inflows of funds from the sale of company shares, the funds

required for investment activities were only a 12.9 million,

in spite of the fact that capital expenditure on tangible assets

continued to be substantial at a 158.1 million.

Part of the cash flow from operating activities was used to

buy back company shares. Bank loans of a 120.0 million

were incurred in the financial year because of the low level

of interest rates. The balance of operating, investment and

financing activities of a 215.9 million was transferred to the

funds, which totalled a 299.3 million at the end of the year.

Since Axel Springer had bank loans of a 199.9 million, the

company closed the year under review with net liquidity of

a 99.4 million.

1) Net income for the year + depreciation/amortization – write-ups

+/– change in the pension provisions
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PERSONNEL

Axel Springer had an average of 11 694 employees (ex-

cluding apprentices and trainees) in the year under review. 

Compared to the previous year, this represents a reduction

by 1 509 employees, thereof 400 in continued operations.

The reduction in personnel by the end of 2003 that was

announced in 2001 was made without any redundancies.

7 318 staff were employed in the market-oriented areas

(publishing, electronic media, marketing), 1 483 in the serv-

ice areas and 2 893 in the technical areas. The number of

editorial staff decreased slightly by 16 to 3 193. The number

of salaried and wage-earning employees (8 501) was 384

fewer than in the previous year.

The average length of service in the year under review was

12.9 years; 51.8% of staff have been with Axel Springer for

more than ten years. Disabled employees accounted for an

average of 4.9% (Axel Springer AG: 5.4%) over the year.

The statutory quotas for employment of the disabled were

therefore largely met.

Small decrease in personnel costs
Personnel costs fell slightly by a 4.9 million to a 836.5 million

in 2003. Compared with the testified figures for the previous

year, this corresponds to a drop of a 71.6 million. The ratio

of personnel costs to total company output increased by

0.4% to 32.1%. Personnel costs for Axel Springer AG in-

creased by a 10.6 million to a 620.6 million.

Wages and salaries accounted for 57.4% of total personnel

costs. The remaining 42.6% were attributable to incidental

pay costs, which include social security contributions, retire-

ment pensions and financial support, payments for non-

productive time (e.g. annual holidays, public holidays, 

illness, etc.) as well as fringe benefits (Christmas bonus,

holiday pay, anniversary bonus, long-service bonus and 

capital formation payments).

Pensions
Expenditure on retirement pensions and financial support

amounted to a 26.0 million in the year under review. Retire-

ment pensions accounted for a 23.4 million. a 9.5 million

were transferred to the pension provisions.

In the course of the last year, an average of 7 365 former

employees or their dependants received regular payments

totalling a 16.1 million. On the balance sheet date, 1 711

former employees held claims against the company with

respect to non-forfeitable pension rights.
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EVENTS OF PARTICULAR SIGNIFICANCE

After Axel Springer AG at the end of January 2002 exercised

the option agreed with the Kirch Group to sell its indirect

shares in ProSiebenSAT.1 Media AG and ISPR Internationale

Sportrechte-Verwertungsgesellschaft mbH at the end of the

period arranged for this purpose and took legal action

against KirchMedia and TaurusTV relating to part of the

amount concerned (about a 30 million) when the payment

period ended, the legal dispute with KirchMedia was inter-

rupted because of the institution of insolvency proceedings.

The legal dispute with TaurusTV led to a provisional judge-

ment in December 2002 that confirmed the content of the

suit in every respect, against which TaurusTV appealed.

Insolvency proceedings were then instituted with respect 

to the assets of TaurusTV too and the legal dispute with 

TaurusTV was therefore interrupted.

Until the full purchase price has been paid, Axel Springer

AG’s indirect equity holding in ProSiebenSAT.1 Media AG

remains the company’s real estate. The equity holding in

ISPR Internationale Sportrechte-Verwertungsgesellschaft

mbH was sold to SPORTFIVE in agreement with KirchMedia

and without relinquishing claims against KirchMedia and

TaurusTV.

The special investigation carried out by BDO Deutsche

Warentreuhand AG, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, auditor

Roland Schulz, at the request of the shareholder Print Be-

teiligungs GmbH, which belongs to the Kirch Group, in 

connection with the exercise of the put option in accordance

with the resolution passed at the extraordinary shareholders’

meeting held on September 24, 2002 produced no evidence

of any conduct by the management with the possible involve-

ment of the Supervisory Board and the two major sharehol-

ders that would make them liable for damages. The report

compiled by the special investigator was presented to the

annual shareholders’ meeting on April 16, 2003 and was

explained by the auditor. No breaches of any duties were

found.

MANAGEMENT REPORT
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SHARE

Positive share price development in line with
capital markets
The official share price in Frankfurt at the beginning of the

year was a 50.0. In the course of the year, the price of the

Axel Springer share, which has a very small free float, 

followed the positive developments on the stock markets and

closed at a 70.0 on December 30, 2003. The average price

was a 52.0.

Dividend
Axel Springer AG paid a dividend of a 0.65 per share for

the 2002 financial year in 2003. The Management Board

will be proposing to the annual shareholders’ meeting that 

a dividend of a 1.20 per share entitled to dividend is dis-

tributed for the 2003 financial year. The remaining part of

the retained earnings (a 44.2 million) is to be transferred to

the other revenue reserves.

Shareholder structure
Deutsche Bank sold its stake of almost 30% in the year

under review. The American financial investor Hellman &

Friedman acquired an interest of 19.4% in Axel Springer AG

in October of the year under review and became the second-

largest shareholder.

Axel Springer AG took advantage of its authorization to

acquire company shares and purchased 10% of the company

shares in November for a price of a 54.0 per share in the

context of a public offer made to all shareholders. Purchas-

ing the shares enables Axel Springer to use its own shares 

as an acquisition currency too and to participate in the in-

crease of the company’s value.

This means that the shareholder structure is as follows:

Axel Springer Gesellschaft für

Publizistik GmbH & Co 50.0 % + 10 shares

Hellman & Friedman 19.4 %

Dr h.c. Friede Springer 10.0 %

Axel Springer AG 10.0 %

Free float about 10.6 %
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Axel Springer AG is subject to a number of risks in its 

operations that are a consequence of its normal business

activities. Different management and control systems are

used at the company to measure, monitor and control the

extent of the risks.

The Management Board is responsible for the risk policy

and risk management. The Divisions apply the principles

specified in the risk management guidelines and are 

responsible for risks that they take in their respective 

business operations.

A regular examination of the appropriateness and efficiency

of the risk management system and the internal control

system is made by the internal auditing department and the

auditors of the financial statements. All risks are recorded in

the Group’s main organizational units at least once a year,

with documentation in a risk manual. Major risks that could

jeopardize the survival of the company are investigated in

the course of the year.

Risks are classified as major, to be monitored and other

risks on the basis of the anticipated net loss, in the calcu-

lation of which measures to counter and avoid the risks and

the probability of risk occurrence are taken into account. A

risk was classified as a threat to company survival for the

first time in 2003 on the basis of the net loss and its impact

on the net worth and liquidity position of the Group. Due to

the change in the basis for determining threats to company

survival, major risks were reclassified in the “threat to com-

pany survival” category even though the risk situation was

practically unchanged by comparison with the previous year.

The presentation below only includes risk groups that could

lead to a threat to company survival or a major drop in 

earnings if individual or several risks materialized within the

next 24 months. Risks for which full insurance coverage can

be obtained or which can be passed on are not listed here. 

Force majeure risks
A terrorist attack on Axel Springer AG cannot be ruled out

completely in spite of the fact that security measures have

been tightened. Such an attack could jeopardize the survival

of the company.

Market and strategic risks
The markets in which Axel Springer operates are fiercely

competitive with respect to prices, product quality and 

product launches.

There is a risk in the fast-moving media business that wrong

business areas are covered or products are developed and

launched that fail to establish themselves on the market in

the long term. The launch of new publications is therefore

preceded by intensive market research and extensive test

marketing. Strategic corporate planning is carried out in

order to prevent operation in unprofitable areas of business.

There is the additional risk in the highly competitive news-

paper and magazine markets that market share and sales are

lost because of the entry of new publications. This risk is

countered by the marketing of a large selection of company

products, the introduction of new publications as well as

constant efforts to develop and improve the company’s own

brands.
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Axel Springer continues to be subject to particularly inten-

sive market pressure from an increasing number of rival out-

lets and auctions in the internet in the area of the classified

ads that are important to the regional newspapers. The 

company has responded to this development by opening up

business areas of its own in the internet. They include car

and real estate portals, which are further developed on an

ongoing basis.

As a result of the large decline in retail sales, there is the

risk that the free advertising publications and weekly news-

papers will lose their existing advertising customers to an

increasing extent. Additional pressure on the newspaper

segment results from the Deutsche Post AG’s entry into the

insert distribution market. Axel Springer has taken steps to

make sure the publications remain attractive to existing and

new customers.

A decision by the European Union to restrict advertising for

certain products could lead to further pressure on advertising

revenues.

Profit risks in business operations
A reduction in revenues cannot be ruled out in future in view

of possible further changes on the advertising and retail 

markets. Developments of this kind are identified at an early

stage in the reporting system. Conteractive measures include

extensive cost-cutting and restructuring measures.

Legal risks
Legal risks arise from pending legal proceedings or existing

contracts. Provisions are made to cover such risks to the

necessary extent. Contracts are checked by the company’s

legal departments; intensive assistance is provided with sub-

sequent legal proceedings.

OUTLOOK

It is expected that the overall economic recovery which has

started will continue slowly and stabilize increasingly in

2004. Gross Domestic Product growth of 1.4% is forecast.

Private consumption is likely to grow only slowly by 0.7% 

in real terms, with a slight increase in the savings ratio. The

inflation rate will be slightly higher than in 2003 at about

1.0%.

Capital expenditure will be increasing, provided that the

sales prospects improve in the coming year. Capital expen-

diture on plant and other equipment can be expected to rise

by 3.0%, whereas capital expenditure on buildings will only

be slightly higher (+ 0.7%) than in the previous year. In 

view of the further recovery that is anticipated in the global

economy and the increase in investment demand that will

follow around the world, exports may increase again 

(+ 4.4%), although they will still be depressed by the high

value of the euro.

The only hesitant economic recovery and the non-utilized

capacities which still exist suggest that there will be no

reversal of the trend on the job market for the time being.

The number of people employed will drop again on average

over the year in 2004, while the number of unemployed will

be slightly lower than in 2003 at 4.3 million.

The small growth in private consumption and the expected

increase in companies’ willingness to invest will have a 

positive impact on corporate advertising activities. The long

economic depression has led to pent-up consumer demand,

primarily as far as buying durable capital goods is concerned,

so that positive effects on the advertising economy can be

expected. In view of structural shifts to online activities and

the fact that the overall economic situation continues to be

difficult, a substantial recovery in newspaper classified ads

business cannot be expected in 2004 either.
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The existing trend towards a decline in the circulation of

newspapers and magazines in all the mass markets can only

be expected to slow down if there is a considerable improve-

ment in the overall economic conditions.

Assuming a recovery of the advertising markets, the Manage-

ment Board expects that sales for 2004 will increase slightly

over 2003. In spite of this, the Management Board expects

lower EBITA in 2004 compared to 2003, since the Company

plans the introduction of new magazines and newspapers.

In this context, Axel Springer will be continuing systematic

implementation of the strategic objectives of market leader-

ship in the core German-speaking business, internationali-

zation and digitization. The priorities for the coming 

financial year are: to cut costs by increasing productivity, 

to increase revenues in existing business and to generate

growth by launching new publications.

Concluding statement pursuant 
to § 312 paragraph 3 of the German
Companies Act (AktG)

Axel Springer AG was dependent on Axel Springer Gesell-

schaft für Publizistik GmbH & Co, Berlin, under the terms

of § 17 of the German Companies Act (AktG) in the 2003

financial year. As no control agreement had been concluded

with the latter company in accordance with § 291 of the

German Companies Act, the Management Board of Axel

Springer AG was obliged to compile a report about the 

relationships to affiliated companies in accordance with 

§ 312 of the German Companies Act. In accordance with 

§ 312 paragraph 3 of the German Companies Act, the

Management Board states at the end of the report: “Under

the circumstances known to it at the time, Axel Springer AG

received fair and adequate compensation for each and every

legal transaction conducted with an affiliated company.

During the period under review, Axel Springer AG neither

took any action nor refrained from taking any action at the

behest or in the interests of the controlling company or one

of its affiliates.”

MANAGEMENT REPORT
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N E W S PA P E R S



Germany’s strongest 
media brand

Well over twelve million people read

BILD every day – more than ever 

before. Europe’s most widely read

daily newspaper captivates people

from all walks of life – from nurses to

construction workers, from marketing

directors to CEOs. With its attractive

mix of news and features and unique

brand philosophy, BILD has become 

a medium that no advertiser can afford

to overlook. In 2003 BILD became the

first media brand in history to be

awarded the “German Marketing

Prize” by the German Marketing

Association.
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NEWSPAPERS

The products and holdings of the Newspaper Division
include daily and Sunday newspapers sold at news-
stands, national and regional newspapers delivered 
on a subscription basis, free advertising publications
and equity holdings in German newspaper publishing
companies.

Newspaper sales in Germany

Net paid circulation IVW, average per issue in 2003

BILD 3 958 791

BILD am SONNTAG 2 202 005

SPORT BILD 494 3391)

DIE WELT 212 894

WELT am SONNTAG 402 441

HAMBURGER ABENDBLATT 282 254

BERLINER MORGENPOST 150 604

B.Z. 239 989    

B.Z. am SONNTAG 131 303

BILD group – in excellent shape
In contrast to the market trend, the BILD group, with its

publications BILD, BILD am SONNTAG, SPORT BILD and

BILD special-interest magazines, continued to develop 

positively during the 2003 financial year.

BILD saw its advertising business grow during the year under

review. This success is due primarily to the restructuring of

advertising operations begun during the previous year and to

the newspaper’s commanding position as an effective adver-

tising vehicle for retailers.

The strength of the BILD brand was underscored by its 

successes in the retail market. Around 4 million copies per

issue were sold in the year under review despite an 

appreciable price increase. The daily reach grew to 12.33

million readers – more than at any other time in the history

of BILD.

The BILD group was awarded the coveted German Marke-

ting Prize in October 2003. This was the first time that the

German Marketing Association presented the award to a

media company for its successful marketing efforts. BILD

also received considerable journalistic recognition during 

the year under review: a report published by the institute

“Medien Tenor” shows that BILD was by far the most 

frequently quoted daily newspaper in Germany.

DIV IS IONS

1) Change in the reporting system in the 1st quarter of 2003.
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BILD am SONNTAG remained unchallenged as the market

leader for Sunday newspapers with net paid circulation of

over 2.2 million copies and a constant reach of 10.77 million

readers. The expansion of health and diet coverage was 

especially well received.

BILD am SONNTAG’s advertising revenues rose substantially

in the face of a declining market. This encouraging develop-

ment is attributed to new advertising formats, topical 

environments for advertising marketing and a growing

acceptance of the supplement VIVABamS by advertisers.

The BILD am SONNTAG editorial staff created two more

BILD special-interest magazines in addition to TIER BILD

and successfully established them on the market. Two

issues each of REISE BILD and GESUNDHEITS BILD were

published during the past year, selling more copies than the

previous market leaders and attracting new advertising

customers for the BILD group.

SPORT BILD was integrated into the BILD group during the

year under review in a move to centralize sports coverage.

The publication improved its editorial coverage and succeeded

in repositioning itself on the advertising market.

DIE WELT group – now also available as e-papers
DIE WELT group publications DIE WELT and WELT am

SONNTAG more than compensated for the decline in the

advertising revenues during the 2003 financial year by

implementing cost-cutting measures.

In November 2003 Axel Springer launched an online news-

stand of its own as the central platform for the company’s

newspapers and magazines on the Web. DIE WELT and

WELT am SONNTAG can now be accessed online at

www.newsstand.de.

DIE WELT and WELT am SONNTAG are the first two Axel

Springer publications to be offered online on a paid content

basis.

DIE WELT reached an average of 618 000 readers a day 

with net paid circulation of some 213 000 copies. Like its

competitors, the newspaper suffered a further decline in

advertising revenues during the 2003 financial year. The re-

structuring program begun at the end of 2001 was continued.

NEWSPAPERS MAGAZ INES     INTERNAT IONAL     ELECTRON IC  MED IA  

PR INT ING  AND LOG IST ICS     SER V ICES
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BERLINER MORGENPOST – 
improved editorial quality
Competition on the Berlin newspaper market remains tough.

BERLINER MORGENPOST, the German capital’s large 

traditional newspaper, was again able to bolster its expertise

in the area of national coverage through editorial co-

operation with DIE WELT.

The results of new market research surveys confirm that

BERLINER MORGENPOST readers are exceptionally satisfied

with their newspaper. The paper improved its coverage of

national issues and raised the quality of its sports and culture

sections as well as coverage of Berlin itself.

BERLINER MORGENPOST maintained its leading position in

classified advertising in the categories of “employment”

and “real estate”, which continued to decline as a result of

the economic situation. The BERLINER MORGENPOST real

estate forum – the biggest regional classified ad market for

real estate among German daily newspapers – was strength-

ened in 2003 through a cross-media alliance with IMMO-

NET, the online real estate portal jointly operated by Axel

Springer and Ring Deutscher Makler (RDM).

B.Z. – increasingly attractive
B.Z. is the biggest daily newspaper in the German capital,

reaching an average of 560 000 readers every day. The 

new editor-in-chief has placed greater emphasis on service-

oriented content, thereby providing readers with even greater

value.

B.Z. continues to be the leading newspaper sold at news-

stands throughout Berlin. The net paid circulation of some

240 000 copies underscores the leading role B.Z. plays in

Berlin and Brandenburg.

A significant reduction in operating costs was achieved by

merging the editorial staffs of DIE WELT and BERLINER

MORGENPOST. The move also improved the editorial quality

of both newspapers. Two staff members were awarded the

prestigious Theodor Wolff Prize for journalistic excellence

during the year under review. 

WELT ONLINE remained one of the leading national daily

online newspapers in 2003 with nearly 15 million page hits

per month.

WELT am SONNTAG retained its position as Germany’s most

widely read quality-oriented Sunday newspaper during the

2003 financial year. Each issue was read by an average of

227 000 decision-makers, an increase of 8% (LAE 2003),

thereby making it even more attractive for advertisers. The

newspaper reaches 899 000 readers daily. 

WELT am SONNTAG maintained its leading position in the

Sunday classified ad market in 2003. With a market share of

over 50% in the categories of “travel”, “cars/water sport”

and “real estate”, the publication demonstrated its command-

ing position as an advertising vehicle, particularly under

adverse market conditions. The average net paid circulation

of more than 402 000 copies during the financial year was

slightly lower than the level achieved for the previous year.

DIV IS IONS



39

HAMBURGER ABENDBLATT – 
the undisputed market leader in Hamburg
HAMBURGER ABENDBLATT was once again the market 

leader in Hamburg and the surrounding area in 2003 with

around 674 000 daily readers.

The entire newspaper has featured four-color print since the

end of 2002. This has considerably strengthened the market

position of HAMBURGER ABENDBLATT in the areas of 

advertising and readership.

Thanks to its strong readership, HAMBURGER ABENDBLATT

was able to successfully defend its position as the most

important marketplace for employment, real estate, travel

and retail trade in Northern Germany. Like BERLINER

MORGENPOST, HAMBURGER ABENDBLATT was able to

strengthen its position on the real estate market through an

alliance with IMMONET.

Thanks to the addition of new sections to the main daily 

edition such as “Live” and “Knowledge” as well as a week-

end supplement about cars, the traditional Axel Springer

newspaper has become even more attractive for readers and

advertisers.

Affiliated Newspaper companies 
and free advertising publications
The Axel Springer-affiliated newspapers LÜBECKER NACH-

RICHTEN, KIELER NACHRICHTEN, OSTSEE-ZEITUNG and

LEIPZIGER VOLKSZEITUNG also managed to strengthen their

market positions last year.

Free advertising publications were again an important stra-

tegic factor for Axel Springer on regional markets in 2003.

The company’s publications again performed well on the

highly competitive markets of Berlin, Hamburg and Dresden

despite the adverse economic situation.

NEWSPAPERS MAGAZ INES     INTERNAT IONAL     ELECTRON IC  MED IA  

PR INT ING  AND LOG IST ICS     SER V ICES
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Women find us 
simply irresistible

BILD der FRAU is Germany’s leading

women’s magazine. Every week it

enriches the lives of some five million

female readers with a refreshing array

of topics, countless tips and ideas, and

a wealth of useful information from 

all sectors of life. A high level of 

credibility and topical continuity have

been key to the magazine’s success.

BILD der FRAU celebrated its 20th

anniversary in 2003.
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MAGAZINES

The Magazine Division publishes a wide variety of maga-
zines dedicated to women, computers, consumer elec-
tronics, cars, the male lifestyle, family, finance, youth and
music as well as TV guides and a number of high-quality
special-interest magazines.

Market position strengthened – 
three new magazines launched
In 2003 the Magazine Division was again able to substantially

increase its market share, thereby further strengthening the

market position of the publications. Axel Springer AG main-

tained its ranking as the second-largest publisher of national

general-interest magazines in Germany on the basis of gross

advertising and retail sales.

The expansion offensive continued with the launch of three

major new magazines. Axel Springer introduced the weekly

periodical FRAU von HEUTE to further strengthen the 

leading market position in the weekly women’s magazine

segment. The paid circulation of the new publication imme-

diately shot up to around 474 000. Axel Springer Young

Mediahouse continued to expand its market position with

the launch of JOLIE, a magazine for young women. AUDIO

VIDEO FOTO BILD, our entry into the consumer electronics

segment of the magazine market, sold more copies than any

other new magazine launched during the past year.

TV guides gain market share
The TV guides published by Axel Springer AG strengthened

their market positions and gained market share despite the

growing number of free TV guides available and better TV

program coverage in daily newspapers. The structural shift 

in circulation from weekly and biweekly feature film maga-

zines to the less expensive biweekly magazines continued.

Magazine sales in Germany

Net paid circulation IVW, average per issue in 2003

HÖRZU 1 830 648

FUNK UHR 980 420

TVNEU 344 375

BILDWOCHE 348 685

BILD der FRAU 1 449 650

FRAU von HEUTE 473 868 1)

JOLIE 362 342 1)

JOURNAL für die FRAU 331 811

ALLEGRA 227 553

COMPUTER BILD 839 946 2)

COMPUTER BILD SPIELE 633 876 2)

AUTO BILD 696 915

AUTOMOBIL TEST 132 506

AUTO BILD ALLES ALLRAD 69 041

AUTO BILD MOTORSPORT 64 968

AUTO BILD TEST & TUNING 55 642

EURO am SONNTAG 118 017

FINANZEN 111 633

MAXIM 258 644

FAMILIE&CO 228 469

POPCORN 368 247

YAM! 324 039

MÄDCHEN 217 798

STARFLASH 152 2813)

MUSIKEXPRESS 63 760

ROLLING STONE 60 625

HAMMER 51 611

1) Included since the 4th quarter of 2003.
2) Change in the reporting system in the 1st quarter of 2003.
3) Included since the 2nd quarter of 2003.
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HÖRZU gained market share, thereby reinforcing its position

as market leader among weekly TV guides. HÖRZU unveiled

interactive HÖRZU, a market-ready new product for digital

television, at CeBIT 2003 in Hanover and the Internationale

Funkausstellung IFA 2003 in Berlin.

FUNK UHR enjoyed better circulation development than its

direct rivals in a declining market, thereby adding to its lead

over direct competitors.

TVNEU and BILDWOCHE also felt the impact of tough 

competition from new biweekly competitors that target

price-conscious buyers.

Women’s magazines – 
market position easily defended
Europe’s biggest weekly women’s magazine, BILD der FRAU,

celebrated its 20th anniversary during the past year by again

increasing its reach. The market leader saw its readership

grow even further to 5.26 million readers. BILD der FRAU

reported only a slight decline in sales volume and adver-

tising revenues.

FRAU von HEUTE was launched in the lower price segment

to further strengthen the position as the market leader in the

weekly women’s magazine market. Net paid circulation

immediately soared to around 474 000 copies.

JOURNAL der FRAU, which celebrated its 25th anniversary 

in September, also had to cope with particularly fierce com-

petitive pressure in the classic segment of biweekly women’s

magazines. JOURNAL der FRAU was given an extensive face-

lift in January 2003.

The market for high-quality monthly women’s magazines

continued to grow in the year under review. Price reductions

were the driving force behind the expansion of the market.

ALLEGRA has been appearing in an innovative big pocket

size with a new layout since January.

Computer magazines – Europe’s market leader
COMPUTER BILD, Europe’s most widely read computer

magazine with a reach of 3.5 million readers, maintained 

its position as undisputed market leader. Sales rose to the

highest level ever despite competition from a large number

of special issues, split versions and cut-rate sales campaigns.

Readers of COMPUTER BILD have been able to choose 

between CD-ROM and non-CD-ROM versions of the maga-

zine since April 2003.

NEWSPAPERS     MAGAZINES INTERNAT IONAL     ELECTRON IC  MED IA  

PR INT ING  AND LOG IST ICS     SER V ICES
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Despite a price increase, COMPUTER BILD SPIELE succeeded

in raising its reach and retail sales during the previous year.

With net paid circulation of around 634 000 copies, COM-

PUTER BILD SPIELE maintained its leading position among

game magazines. The publication is the second-largest com-

puter magazine after COMPUTER BILD.

AUDIO VIDEO FOTO BILD – 
the most successful new launch of the year
The COMPUTER BILD group launched the monthly magazine

AUDIO VIDEO FOTO BILD in December 2003. This new

publication is dedicated to all consumer electronics issues,

AUDIO VIDEO FOTO BILD assumed the position of market

leader in its segment when its very first issue sold over 

600 000 copies. This was the highest circulation among all

new magazines launched during the year.

AUTOMOBIL TEST successfully relaunched
The monthly car magazine AUTOMOBIL TEST from AS Auto

Verlag bucked the general trend with record sales in August

when it was successfully relaunched under the name of

AUTOMOBIL. With a new design and a revised layout, the

magazine is positioned as the first and only car magazine

that provides readers with detailed information on the

various models.

The retail and advertising markets for car magazines showed

no signs of recovery during the year under review. Although

AUTO BILD also felt the impact of adverse economic envi-

ronment, it still managed to strengthen its position as the

biggest-selling car magazine at newsstands. According to a

survey conducted by the institute TNS Emnid, AUTO BILD is

the most popular and best-known German car magazine.

Expansion of the brand MAXIM

The MAXIM brand expanded again with the launch of the

special fashion publication MAXIM FASHION and the intro-

duction of MAXIM TV.

With circulation of round 259 000 copies, MAXIM managed

to stabilize its position as market leader and continued to

increase its lead over its closest competitor in the advertising

market.

Joint venture founded 
in the family magazine segment
In a move to meet the strategic challenges in the market for

family magazines, Axel Springer AG and OZ Verlag founded

a joint venture for the purpose of publishing their family

magazines. The cooperative effort lays the groundwork for 

a new company that could quickly become the leading pub-

lisher of family and children’s magazines in Germany.

DIV IS IONS
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AS Young Mediahouse – as successful as ever
The monthly star-personality magazine POPCORN succeeded

in maintaining the high net paid circulation level reached

during the previous year by selling more than 368 000

copies. Advertising business grew positively despite a trend

to the contrary. The net paid circulation of the monthly star-

personality magazine STARFLASH, which was launched suc-

cessfully in October 2002, rose to over 152 000 copies

during its first year of publication.

The weekly youth magazine YAM! improved its excellent

market position and increased its market share slightly.

Despite tough competition, MÄDCHEN managed to increase

its market share slightly, maintaining its position as the num-

ber two publication in the girls’ magazine segment. Axel

Springer Young Mediahouse launched JOLIE, a magazine for

young women, in September 2003. The magazine exceeded

the expectations in the areas of both advertising and sales

with net paid circulation of more than 362 000 copies.

The successful addition of the magazine ROLLING STONE to

the Axel Springer Young Mediahouse portfolio strengthened

the company’s position among music magazines catering to

adult tastes. ROLLING STONE is one of the strongest interna-

tional magazine brands in the music segment and, together

with MUSIKEXPRESS, is co-market leader among general

music magazines. The music magazine HAMMER increased

its newsstand and subscription sales considerably and

strengthened its position as market leader in the segment for

monthly hard rock magazines.

Consolidation and optimization 
of business magazines
Finanzen Verlag, with its main publications FINANZEN and

EURO am SONNTAG, continued to systematically reduce

costs during the past year. MARKT und MITTELSTAND, the

magazine for entrepreneurs, was given a complete facelift. In

July 2003 it began appearing with a new layout and revised

structure adapted to reader requirements.

Successful cost management 
with special-interest magazines
The special-interest magazines BLINKER, GOLFMAGAZIN

and FOTOMAGAZIN, which are published under a joint 

venture with Jahr-Verlag, performed well despite the slow

economic environment. Operating costs continued to be cut

successfully.



I N T E R N AT I O N A L



Attractively French 
with feminine appeal

BIEN DANS MA VIE! combines the

classical array of topics of a women’s

magazine with wellness information

and optimum convenience. This inno-

vative pocket size magazine radiates

optimism as it confidently guides

female readers through their daily lives

– women who value independence and

want to live life to its fullest. BIEN

DANS MA VIE! provides them with a

wealth of information about wellness,

psychology, careers, marriage and

partnership and sexuality as well as

about fashion and beauty. BIEN DANS

MA VIE! was awarded the Grand Prix

des Medias 2003 (CB NEWS) as the

most successful magazine launched in

France in 2002.
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INTERNATIONAL 

The International Division currently publishes some 
110 newspapers and magazines as well as various 
special publications. The activities in Western and 
Southern Europe are concentrated in France, Spain 
and Switzerland. The emphasis in Eastern Europe is 
on Hungary, Poland and the Czech Republic.

Growth through new magazines
The International Division expanded its market position 

in Southern and Eastern Europe again during the year under

review by launching three new magazines of its own, two

new publications as joint ventures and three licensed 

editions. It also continued to successfully develop three

monthly magazines that were introduced in France during

the previous year.

Axel Springer implemented the second stage of its program

to open up the press market in Poland by launching FAKT.

After only two months FAKT became the top daily news-

paper in Poland.

The international licensing business grew during the year

under review with the launch of AUTO BILD in Indonesia,

Ukraine and Macedonia. AUTO BILD also launches in Fin-

land and Estonia in March 2004.

France – market position strengthened
The TV guide TÉLÉ MAGAZINE was the only magazine in its

segment to considerably increase net paid circulation and

reach.

The monthly women’s magazine BIEN DANS MA VIE!, which

was launched in May 2002, sold some 211 000 copies for a

circulation increase of 5% over the previous year. 

3) Average net paid circulation in 2003, WEMF statistics (04/02-03/03). 

France1)

TV guide

TÉLÉ MAGAZINE 637 000

Women’s magazines

BIEN DANS MA VIE! 211 000

VIE PRATIQUE 136 000

Men’s magazine

MEN’S HEALTH 92 000

Spain2)

Computer magazines

COMPUTER HOY 118 787

PERSONAL COMPUTER & INTERNET 63 820
(previously: PC MANÍA)

PC TODAY 34 553

Computer game magazines

HOBBY CONSOLAS 72 900

PLAY2MANÍA 56 731

NINTENDO ACCIÓN 51 418

MICROMANÍA 34 303

COMPUTER HOY JUEGOS 31 269

Switzerland3)

Business newspaper

HANDELSZEITUNG 33 044

Finance magazine

STOCKS 21 124

2) Average net paid circulation in 2003, publishers’ statistics.

1) Average net paid circulation in 2003, OJD statistics (certified 06/03).



Czech Republic1)

Youth magazines

TOP DIVKY 72 800

POPCORN 37 000

Car magazines

SVET MOTORU 35 900

AUTO TIP 31 300

Computer magazine

SVET POCITACU 32 100 2)

Men’s magazine

PLAYBOY 13 600

1) Average net paid circulation in 2003, publishers’ statistics.
2) Average net paid circulation 10/03-12/03, publishers’ statistics.
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The monthly women’s magazine VIE PRATIQUE, which is

sold exclusively at supermarket checkouts, continued its

strong growth in 2003 and saw its net paid circulation grow

by nearly 46% to around 136 000 copies.

The magazine MEN’S HEALTH saw advertising revenues and

market share grow even though circulation declined.

Spain – market leader among 
computer magazines
Axel Springer’s subsidiary HOBBY PRESS is by far the 

market leader on the computer magazine market in Spain

with its eight computer and computer game magazines. This

lead was increased systematically through the complete

repositioning of PC MANIÁ, which was renamed PERSONAL

COMPUTER & INTERNET. COMPUTER HOY JUEGOS and 

PC TODAY were also revamped. PERSONAL COMPUTER &

INTERNET almost doubled its circulation.

Switzerland – business magazines relaunched
The advertising revenues generated by the Swiss business

press fell again during the year under review. The six trade

magazines published by the HANDELSZEITUNG Group were

also affected by this development for the first time. The

publishing group responded immediately by implementing

cost-cutting measures.

The business newspaper HANDELSZEITUNG was relaunched

with a totally new format in September 2003. The layout,

structure and content were revised extensively. The publica-

tion frequency of the investor magazine STOCKS was cut

from weekly to biweekly as a result of the market situation.

STOCKS was relaunched with different content and a new

graphic design at the end of August. Both readers and adver-

tising customers have responded positively to the changes.

Czech Republic – 
Czech edition of COMPUTER BILD launched
Axel Springer Praha is the country’s leading publisher of car

magazines. SVET MOTORU, the biggest weekly car magazine

in the country, was relaunched during the year under review.

AUTO TIP, the biweekly Czech edition of AUTO BILD, was

also revamped. The Czech licensed edition of PLAYBOY was

relaunched as well.

In October 2003 Axel Springer Praha launched the biweekly

magazine SVET POCITACU, which is based on the magazine

COMPUTER BILD.

NEWSPAPERS     MAGAZ INES     INTERNAT IONAL     ELECTRON IC  MED IA  

PR INT ING  AND LOG IST ICS     SER V ICES



50

Hungary – new weekly women’s magazine
The Axel Springer AG subsidiaries in Hungary expanded

their market positions again during the year under review.

Axel Springer is the biggest publishing company in the

country with 19 magazines and ten newspapers. The TV

guide TVR-HÉT and the women’s magazine KISKEGYED are

the biggest contributors to magazine sales. The women’s

magazines HÖLGYVILÁG and GYÖNGY were relaunched

successfully during the year under review. 

Axel Springer Budapest launched the weekly women’s 

magazine FANNY in the lower price segment in September to

protect its market position in the women’s magazine market.

The magazine’s objective is to be an informative guide that

offers a large selection of different services.

Romania – Romanian Publishing Group 
launches two new magazines
Since 2002 Romanian magazines published by Axel Springer

AG have been produced by the Romanian Publishing 

Group (RPG), the second-largest general-interest magazine 

publishing company in Romania, in which Axel Springer has

a 40% stake.

RPG launched two new magazines during the year under

review. The monthly interior design magazine DECO STYLE,

which sets new standards in the home furnishing and interior

design magazine segment with its high-quality finish and

opulent look, was introduced in August. LOOK!, the monthly

magazine for young women, appeared for the first time in

November and is the first Romanian women’s magazine in

pocket size.

Hungary1)

Daily newspapers

BARANYA 46 495

BÁCS-KISKUN 38 618

SOMOGY 34 868 

BÉKÉSCSABA 33 712

SZOLNOK 28 783

HEVES 21 814

KOMÁROM 20 689

TOLNA 19 554

Sunday newspaper

VASÁRNAP REGGEL 161 321

Business newspaper

VILÁGGAZDASÁG 13 334

TV guides

TVR-HÉT 280 226

TV KÉTHETES 202 460

TVR-ÚJSÁG 143 096

SZÍNES KÉTHETES 97 379

Women’s magazines

KISKEGYED 214 053

HÖLGYVILÁG 81 722

FANNY 72 2162)

GYÖNGY 39 903

Puzzle magazines

ÜGYES 117 104

TEREFERE 55 024

KÓPÉ 43 884

ESZES 39 082

JÓ VICC 18 697

Car magazine

AUTO MOTOR 48 865

True story magazine

CSÓK ÉS KÖNNY 46 408

Interior design magazine

LAKÁSKULTÚRA 61 831

Cooking magazine

KISKEGYED KONYHÁJA 47 909

Youth magazines

POPCORN 60 352

100 X SZÉP 46 778

1) Average net paid circulation in 2003, publishers’ statistics. 
2) Average net paid circulation 09/03-12/03, publishers’ statistics.
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Poland – FAKT launched successfully
In October 2003 Axel Springer Polska launched FAKT, a

modern newsstand daily newspaper targeting a broad spec-

trum of readers. FAKT saw net paid circulation climb to

some 500 000 copies in December 2003, thereby making it

Poland’s largest daily newspaper.

In September 2003 Axel Springer Polska received an award

from Poland’s most prestigious media service “Media i Mar-

keting Polska” for the news magazine NEWSWEEK POLSKA.

The leading news magazine in its segment, NEWSWEEK

POLSKA was chosen “Magazine of the Year 2002/2003”.

The business magazine PROFIT continued to expand its 

position as market leader during the year under review. The

market leaders AUTO SWIAT and KOMPUTER SWIAT as well

as the established magazines PANI DOMU and OLIVIA under-

scored the strong position Axel Springer enjoys in Poland.

Russia – subsidiary established
Axel Springer established its own subsidiary in Russia in

September 2003 in order to lay the groundwork for entry

into the Russian market.

AUTO BILD – appears in 19 countries
The AUTO BILD group, the biggest car magazine family in

Europe with some 35 million readers, launched three more

licensed editions in Indonesia, Ukraine and Macedonia

during the year under review. The launch of AUTO BILD

Indonesia represents Axel Springer’s first involvement in 

the Asian market. In addition, two new license agreements

were reached during the financial year in order to launch

AUTO BILD also in Finland and Estonia as of March 2004.

The successful AUTO BILD brand will then appear in 

19 different countries.

NEWSPAPERS     MAGAZ INES     INTERNAT IONAL     ELECTRON IC  MED IA  

PR INT ING  AND LOG IST ICS     SER V ICES

51

Poland1)

Tabloid newspaper

FAKT 417 6472)

Women’s magazines

PANI DOMU 400 520

OLIVIA 334 692

Illustrated magazine

NA ZYWO 88 076

True story magazines

CIENIE I BLASKI 141 078

SEKRETY SERCA 114 267

Computer magazines

KOMPUTER SWIAT 125 445

KOMPUTER SWIAT GRY 72 355

PLAY 60 870 

Car magazines

AUTO SWIAT 130 860

AUTO SUKCES 30 575

News, business magazines

NEWSWEEK POLSKA 219 700

PROFIT 59 248

Youth magazines

DZIEWCZYNA 142 592

POPCORN 120 099

1) Average net paid circulation, ZKDP-statistics (01/03-10/03).
2) Average net paid circulation, ZKDP-statistics (10/03-12/03).
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The place to visit on the Web
for real estate

IMMONET and its network of associate

companies operate one of the leading

internet marketplaces for real estate.

Whether the online user is a reader 

of the HAMBURGER ABENDBLATT, 

BERLINER MORGENPOST, BILD, 

WELT or another leading publication,

IMMONET has something for everyone.

Potential buyers can browse to their

heart’s content through the listings on

www.immonet.de in search of that

dream home. Since its launch by Axel

Springer and Ring Deutscher Makler

in 2003, IMMONET has become one of

the most successful and innovative

portals on the Web.
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ELECTRONIC MEDIA

The Electronic Media Division runs the company’s 
online, mobile, audiotex and TV operations and manages
equity holdings and joint ventures in these sectors.

AS Interactive – 
the multimedia unit of Axel Springer AG
As the central unit of Axel Springer AG for multimedia 

products, AS Interactive runs the company’s audiotex/value-

added telephone, mobile and internet operations. During the

past financial year AS Interactive made it possible for audio-

tex viewers in Germany to vote for their favorite song in

conjunction with the “Eurovision Song Contest 2003” in

Riga as well as participate in telephone competitions con-

ducted by the BILD group and 9Live, an interactive quiz

channel.

AS Interactive is charge of internet production and marketing

for Axel Springer AG companies. It designs and develops

new multimedia products and services for these companies

as well as for external customers.

BILD.T-ONLINE.DE – further growth
The joint venture BILD.T-ONLINE.DE was again able to 

expand its already strong market position as a cross-media

general-interest portal during the 2003 financial year. Cross-

media promotions – online offers coupled with weekly

supplements and special inserts in BILD – continued to be

successful. Business continued to develop positively thanks

especially to “popular promotions” of products for price-

conscious buyers such as PCs, digital cameras and dish-

washers. These products are available online as well as 

offline through participating dealers.

Online products1)

Address Page impressions

in ‘000

12/2003

Newspapers

www.abendblatt.de 8 979

www.bild.t-online.de 225 080

www.welt.de 14 848

Magazines

www.allegra.de 1 560

www.autobild.de 19 570

www.familie.de 1 250

www.maximonline.de 7 144

www.yam.de 13 529

Services

www.berlin1.de 14 262

www.finanzen.net 2 670

Equity holdings

www.gamigo.de 42 103

1) IVW-audited online offers.
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Online portals – position strengthened
Ring Deutscher Makler e.V. (RDM) and Axel Springer

launched their joint real estate portal IMMONET during the

year under review. The Axel Springer AG real estate plat-

form, which is built around a central database, quickly

attracted over 130 000 listings, thereby making it one of the

biggest internet real estate portals in German-speaking

regions. IMMONET also created a nationwide network together

with selected regional real estate leaders. For example, the

number of requested real estate exposés, real estate listings

and website page hits more than doubled over the previous

year. The customer base more than quadrupled during 2003.

AUTOBILD.DE, the Axel Springer AG internet portal for

automobiles, is a major online marketplace for new and used

cars. The portal continued to develop successfully during the

year under review, recording the largest number of page hits

and the highest level of awareness since it was launched.

TV/radio – expansion in equity holdings
Axel Springer has an indirect stake in ProSiebenSAT.1

Media AG of 11.48%.

With a total of seven direct holdings in the broadcasting

media sector, including Radio Hamburg, RSH, Radio FFN,

Antenne Bayern, Radio NRW and Antenne1, as well as large

number of indirect equity holdings, Axel Springer has one of

the largest radio broadcasting portfolios in Germany.

In July 2003 Axel Springer increased its stake in Radio FFH

from 12.5% to 15%, thereby making it the largest single 

shareholder of the radio station based in the German state of

Hesse.

TV production – alliance with ZDF
The TV shows “Die Goldene Kamera” and “Ein Herz für

Kinder”, a joint effort with ZDF Television, continued to

attract large audiences in prime time. They were produced 

by Schwartzkopff TV-Productions, a company wholly-owned

by Axel Springer AG. Schwartzkopff TV is one of the most

successful producers of entertainment programs and talk

shows.

Axel Springer has withdrawn from the production of TV 

feature films and series. It sold its stakes in the TV production

companies Multimedia, Cinecentrum, Studio Berlin Metro-

pol and Studio Hamburg Produktion für Film und Fernsehen

to its business associate Studio Hamburg.

Other equity holdings – strengthening 
the market position
The internet book portal BUECHER.DE, in which Axel 

Springer owns a 25% stake, again succeeded in strengthening

its position among the three largest providers in the German

online book market during the year under review with a 10%

increase in sales.

GAMIGO, an internet game portal, in which AS Venture

GmbH holds a 14% stake, continued to expand its position

as market leader in the internet games sector and acquired

another strategic investor (T-Online Venture Fund GmbH &

Co. KG).

Axel Springer sold its stake in the online marketing com-

pany Interactive Media CCSP AG to T-Online International.
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Investing in the future, 
exemplary distribution network

Newspapers and magazines from Axel

Springer AG are circulated through

one of the densest and most efficient

distribution networks ever devised.

Precise printing deadlines and distri-

bution procedures are perfectly co-

ordinated to ensure that the publica-

tions arrive on target, on time. We

have achieved our successes through

exemplary journalistic quality in con-

cert with market leadership in sales

and state-of-the-art offset and gravure

technology at our printing facilities.

Important stages of the innovative

reinvestment program were completed

in 2003.



PRINTING AND LOGISTICS 

The Printing and Logistics Division operates five 
offset and gravure printing plants of its own as well as
central purchasing operations, logistics and distribution
services.

Printing plants – technical 
reinvestment program nearing completion
Paper consumption remained almost unchanged during the

2003 financial year. A total of 455 000 tons of paper were

used to produce newspapers, magazines and contract print-

ing orders. The offset printing plants in Ahrensburg, Berlin-

Spandau and Essen-Kettwig consumed 185 000 tons of

paper in 2003. The gravure printing plants in Ahrensburg

and Darmstadt printed 270 000 tons of paper.

The expansion of the Spandau printing plant begun last year

was completed. The new printing and processing equipment

was put into operation on schedule. The capacity of the 

facility had to be increased in order to accommodate the

production of the newspaper “Der Tagesspiegel”, which has

been printed in Spandau since mid-December 2003. The

GMZ printing plant located in the center of Berlin was closed

at the end of 2003.

New equipment was put into operation at the Essen-Kettwig

plant during the year under review. This marks the near com-

pletion of the second phase of the rebuilding program begun

following a fire in the facility in 1998. 

The first stage of the modernization of the Ahrensburg offset

printing plant begun in 2001 was nearly completed by the

end of the year under review.

The gravure modernization program was nearly completed

by the beginning of the 2003 financial year when the second

3.64-meter-wide rotary press was put into operation at the

Ahrensburg gravure printing plant. With the modernization

of the company’s offset and gravure printing plants, the most

important technical reinvestment program in the history of

Axel Springer AG is almost completed. As a result, Axel

Springer printing plants are among the most modern in

Europe. No extensive reinvestment projects will be necessary

in the foreseeable future.

Greater utilization of capacities 
through contract printing
During the past financial year contract printing accounted

for 14% of printing volume at newspaper printing plants as

measured by the amount of paper processed. Long-term

printing contracts with third parties are a stable source of

added income. Printing contracts at the gravure printing

plants again accounted for around 51% of revenues despite

tough competition in this sector. Paper consumption rose

roughly 4%. Long-term periodical printing contracts ac-

counted for almost half of the contract printing volume at

the company’s gravure printing plants. Productivity again

rose as the result of newly initiated cost-cutting measures

combined with greater exploitation of capacities.

DIV IS IONS
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Progress in electronic purchasing
Purchasing operations focused more intensively on strategic

buying. Greater emphasis was placed on electronic processing

in order to meet demands for prompt and reliable data com-

munication in near real time.

The IBM e-business Innovation Center evaluated the pur-

chasing operations of Axel Springer and rated them “best

practice” by international standards.

The investments of Axel Springer in electronic purchasing

quickly paid for themselves through increased purchasing

efficiency and lower purchasing prices. Electronic purchasing

procedures will therefore continue to be expanded. 

Logistics and distribution – 
optimization of synergetic benefits
Logistic and distribution operations involve logistics, market

analysis, alliances with trading associates and foreign dis-

tribution. Also included here are stakes in wholesale press

companies, import firms in Eastern Europe and the fully-

owned subsidiary ASV Vertriebs GmbH.

Following the successful completion of restructuring measures

implemented in 2002, logistics and distribution operations 

in 2003 focused on boosting operational efficiency and

exploiting the synergetic potential in distribution. Costs were

cut substantially by lowering shipping costs, merging IT

distribution systems, introducing new trading margin models

for wholesale press activities and concluding lower-cost

service agreements.

During the year under review Axel Springer AG concluded a

multi-year alliance with the Thiel Logistik Group in a move

to promote greater efficiency and flexibility in meeting the

demands of national and global markets. Axel Springer sold

its own logistics service provider, “Overbruck Spedition

GmbH”, to the Thiel Logistik Group as part of the arrange-

ment.

The ultimate objective of all of activities is to continually 

and steadily expand the leading position of Axel Springer

AG and to help shape major developments in the German

distribution market. 

NEWSPAPERS     MAGAZ INES     INTERNAT IONAL     ELECTRON IC  MED IA  

PRINT ING AND LOGIST ICS SER V ICES



60

SERVICES

Asdirekt – expanding the service portfolio
Asdirekt provides a comprehensive range of services for

customer relations management. In recent years the range 

of classic customer services was transformed into a com-

prehensive portfolio of extended services with the addition

of active telephone marketing and process consulting. The

core markets are subscriber relations for newspaper and

magazine publishing companies and advertising sales.

The business volume of Axel Springer AG publications grew

significantly during the year under review, thanks primarily

to the takeover of magazine subscriber relations. We also

acquired an important external customer in Alba Deutsch-

land GmbH. The project encompasses all telephone customer

relations activities of the waste disposal company.

The highest rate of growth during the year under review 

was achieved in the area of telephone marketing, for which

Asdirekt directed sales activities in various sectors. BILD

advertising sales volume and subscriber recruiting for inter-

nal and external publishing companies also grew. We were

also able to attract sales projects for mobile phone companies.

Another successful year for VVDG
VVDG is an insurance broker that provides central insurance

services within the Group. It advises the Group on matters

of risk management and company pension plans and ensures

that adequate insurance coverage is obtained at market con-

ditions. VVDG also serves a large number of third-party

customers outside the Group.

In 2003 the need for consulting services grew considerably

in the areas of general company insurance coverage and

company pension plans. VVDG succeeded in expanding 

existing customer business and attracting new customers.

DIV IS IONS
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FURTHER INFORMATION

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Responsible corporate management and control have
always been a top priority for Axel Springer AG. The
company adheres to all stock and capital market 
regulations and other applicable German laws while
exercising good corporate governance in the manage-
ment and control of its operations.

New corporate regulations require that companies listed on

the stock market provide capital markets with a higher

degree of transparency through the greater use of electronic

media. The German Government Commission for Corporate

Governance Code adopted the initial version of the German

Corporate Governance Code (hereafter referred to as “Code”)

on February 26, 2002. It contains summaries of current Ger-

man stock corporation law and recommendations for good

corporate governance by companies listed on stock markets

in Germany. The German Government Commission most

recently published an updated version of the Code on May

21, 2003.

Axel Springer AG issued statements of compliance in accord-

ance with § 161 of the Stock Corporation Act (AktG) on

schedule in December 2002 and December 2003. The state-

ment of compliance for 2003 is available on the Internet at

www.axelspringer.de/InvestorRelations/CorporateGovernance

and is printed on page 66 of this Annual Report.

Axel Springer AG has taken appropriate measures to monitor

compliance with and implementation of the principles of

corporate governance. A corporate governance officer has

been appointed for this purpose. The articles of association

of the company and the rules of procedure of the Manage-

ment Board and the Supervisory Board of the company have

also been adjusted to comply with the principles of corporate

governance.

Shareholders and the shareholders meeting
Axel Springer AG shareholders who are listed in the share

register and who registered for the shareholders meeting

before the prescribed deadline are able to participate in the

shareholders meeting and exercise their right to vote. The

regular annual shareholders meeting is held during the first

eight months of the financial year. The Chairman of the

Supervisory Board presides over the shareholders meeting.

The shareholders meeting makes decisions on all the matters

assigned to it by law. These matters include approval of the

conduct of the business by the Management Board and the

Supervisory Board, election of the members of the Super-

visory Board and the appointment of auditors. The share-

holders meeting also makes decisions concerning capital

increases and changes in the articles of association.

Axel Springer AG tries to make it as easy as possible for

shareholders to take part in the shareholders meeting. The

participation documents are made available to the share-

holders in good time on the internet. A proxy is also ap-

pointed for the shareholders meeting, whom shareholders

can commission to exercise their voting right in accordance

with the instructions they issue.
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The Supervisory Board
The Supervisory Board of Axel Springer AG consists of nine

members elected by the shareholders meeting. The term of

office of the Supervisory Board is five years; re-election is

possible. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board is elected

from among the members of the Supervisory Board; the

term of office of the Chairman of the Supervisory Board

corresponds to the term of office of the Supervisory Board.

Every member of the Supervisory Board is obligated to

immediately disclose to the Supervisory Board any conflicts

of interest.

The Supervisory Board appoints the members of the

Management Board. It monitors and advises the Manage-

ment Board on the conduct of the business. Management

Board decisions of significant importance require the ap-

proval of the Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board

normally meets five times a year and holds meetings, if

necessary, without the Management Board. The Supervisory

Board discusses at regular intervals the development of 

business, planning and strategy regarding major investments.

The Supervisory Board compiles the financial statements of

Axel Springer AG and approves the consolidated financial

statements. The Supervisory Board makes regular reviews of

the efficiency of its work.

The members of the Supervisory Board receive fixed and

variable compensation. The variable compensation depends

on the size of the distributed dividend. The functions of

Chairman of the Supervisory Board and Deputy Chairman

of the Supervisory Board as well as Chairman and member-

ship of the committees are taken into appropriate account in

determining the amount of compensation paid to the mem-

bers of the Supervisory Board. Contrary to sub-section

5.4.5, clause 6 of the Code, the compensation paid to the

Supervisory Board members is not listed in individualized

form in the Notes to the consolidated financial statements,

because competitors of Axel Springer AG also do not

publish this information. Consequential loss insurance

also does not include a deductible for board members

(sub-section 3.8, clause 3 of the Code). This policy 

provides Group-wide insurance coverage for members of

the Supervisory Board and the Management Board as

well as for directors of individual Group companies all

over the world; a breakdown into board members and

other management staff does not appear to be appropriate

because of the excessively high costs involved.

The Supervisory Board has drawn up rules of procedure

for its activities and formed the following committees:

• Executive committee:

The executive committee is responsible for all matters

relating exclusively or mainly to publishing or jour-

nalistic issues, for all questions of strategy, financial

planning, investments and the financing thereof as

well as for a number of matters that require approval

in accordance with the rules of procedure for the

Management Board. The executive committee pre-

pares decisions on the organization of the Manage-

ment Board as well as on the recommendation of the

Supervisory Board concerning the election of the

Supervisory Board members. The executive commit-

tee makes decisions on granting approval for the sale

of Axel Springer AG registered shares and subscription

rights thereto.

The members of the executive committee during

the 2003 financial year were:

Dr Giuseppe Vita (Chairman)

Dr h.c. Friede Springer (Deputy Chairwoman)

Dr Gerhard Cromme

Klaus Krone
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• Personnel committee:

The personnel committee is responsible for preparing

decisions on appointments and dismissals of the members

of the Management Board. The personnel committee

makes decisions in place of the Supervisory Board con-

cerning the conclusion, amendment and termination of the

employment contracts with the members of the Manage-

ment Board as well as on the granting of loans as defined

in § 89 and § 115 of the Stock Corporation Act (AktG);

the same applies to the approval of contracts with mem-

bers of the Supervisory Board in accordance with § 114

of the Stock Corporation Act. The personnel committee is

also responsible for representing the company in legal

transactions with individual members of the Management

Board. The committee can grant the Chairman of the

Supervisory Board sole power of representation. The per-

sonnel committee also makes decisions on a number of

matters that require approval as stipulated in the rules of

procedure for the Management Board.

The members of the personnel committee during the

year under review were:

Dr Giuseppe Vita (Chairman)

Dr h.c. Friede Springer (Deputy Chairwoman)

Dr Joachim Theye

• Audit committee:

The audit committee is responsible for preparation of the

decisions made by the Supervisory Board concerning

adoption of the financial statements and approval of the

consolidated financial statements by conducting a prelimi-

nary review of the financial statements, the dependency

report and the consolidated financial statements, the

management report and consolidated management report,

reviewing of the proposal for appropriation of the profits,

by discussing the audit report with the auditors and by

reviewing the risk management system. It is also respon-

sible for reviewing the interim statements and/or interim

reports and for discussing the report about the audit

review of the interim statements. The audit committee is

also responsible for issues connected with the auditors,

e.g. preparation of the proposal that the Supervisory

Board puts to the shareholders meeting concerning selec-

tion of the auditors of the financial statements and ap-

pointment of the auditors of the financial statements and

the consolidated financial statements (including agree-

ment on the fee) on the basis of the resolution passed by

the shareholders meeting, including specification of the

main examination procedures that are to be carried out

(following consultation with the Management Board).

The members of the audit committee during the 2003

financial year were:

Dr Giuseppe Vita (Chairman)

Dr h.c. Friede Springer (Deputy Chairwoman)

Leonhard H. Fischer

Management Board
The Management Board is responsible for running the com-

pany. The board currently consists of five members. The

Management Board regularly, promptly and comprehensively

informs the Supervisory Board about all the issues of rele-

vance to the company relating to planning, business develop-

ment, the risk situation and risk management. Every member

of the Management Board is obligated to immediately dis-

close to the Supervisory Board any conflicts of interest.

The compensation paid to the members of the Management

Board consists of fixed and variable components. A maximum

amount has been defined for the variable components. The

variable component is linked to the performance, which

means the compensation is dependent on the performance of

the individual member and on the performance of the Group.

Part of this variable compensation is dependent on reaching

a defined company value, which is based on the EBITA. The

compensation does not include stock options or comparable

instruments. The performance targets for the variable com-

pensation as well as the determination of the target achieve-

ment are set between the Chairman of the Supervisory Board

and the individual member ot the Management Board. The

compensation paid to the members of the Management

Board is not listed in individualized form in the Notes to the

consolidated financial statements (sub-section 4.2.4, clause 2

of the Code), because this information is also not listed by

competitors. Consequential loss insurance also does not

include a deductible for the Management Board members

(sub-section 3.8, clause 3 of the Code). This policy provides

Group-wide insurance coverage for members of the Super-
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visory Board and the Management Board as well as for

directors of individual Group companies; a breakdown into

board members and other management staff does not appear

to be appropriate because of the excessively high costs in-

volved.

Accounting and auditing
The consolidated financial statements for 2003 and the 

quarterly interim financial statements are still prepared in

accordance with the principles of the German Commercial

Code (HGB). In this respect, the corporate governance of

Axel Springer AG deviates from sub-section 7.1.1, clause 3

of the Code. The consolidated financial statements of the

company for the 2004 financial year will likely be prepared

in accordance with IFRS/IAS, i.e. a year earlier than is

required by law. In view of the technical requirements that

need to be met in order to make a careful change, faster

implementation does not appear to be possible at the present

time. The interim financial statements will be prepared in

accordance with IFRS from 2005 onwards.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared by the

Management Board and are audited by the auditors and

reviewed by the Supervisory Board. The consolidated 

financial statements are published within 90 days of the end

of the reporting period, the quarterly reports within 45 days.

The company takes full advantage of the option to present

some of the information in a list of equity holdings instead

of in the Notes to the financial statements/consolidated

financial statements. The list of equity holdings includes 

statutory information. If disclosure of the equity holdings

and the income during the last financial year is not required

under these rules, this information is not indicated – a 

deviation from sub-section 7.1.4, clause 3 of the Code – in

order to avoid creating disadvantages for individuals who are

affected.

The consolidated financial statements describe the relation-

ship with shareholders who are classified as related parties

as defined by the applicable accounting regulations.

It has been arranged with the auditors, PwC Deutsche 

Revision Aktiengesellschaft Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft,

Hamburg, that the Chairman of the Supervisory Board

and/or the audit committee is to be informed immediately of

any reasons for exclusion or indications of partiality that

become apparent during the audit and that the auditors

report immediately on all issues and incidents, which are

important for the assignments of the Supervisory Board that

become apparent during the course of the audit. An arrange-

ment has also been made for the auditors to inform the

Chairman of the audit committee and/or indicate in the audit

report if they discover facts during the course of the audit of

the financial statements, which show that the statement of

compliance issued by the Management Board and the Super-

visory Board in accordance with § 161 of the Stock Cor-

poration Act is inaccurate.

Transparency
Axel Springer AG deems it important to provide consistent,

comprehensive and prompt information to all capital market

participants. Reports on the business situation and results of

Axel Springer AG are presented in the Annual Report, at the

annual results press conference and in the interim reports.

Axel Springer plans to introduce quarterly reports with the

first quarter of the 2004 financial year.

Information is also provided through ad hoc releases to the

extent that this is legally required, through press releases and

through the company website. The articles of association of

Axel Springer AG are also available on the website. The

publication dates of financial reports are published in the

financial calendar. Changes in the composition of the share-

holder structure subject to the mandatory reporting require-

ments of § 25 of the German Securities Trading Act

(WpHG) as well as the acquisition and sale of shares by

board members (directors’ dealings) in accordance with 

§ 15a of the WpHG are also published by the Management

Board.



66

Statement of compliance in accordance with 
§ 161 of the German Stock Corporation (AktG)

“The Management Board and Supervisory Board of Axel

Springer AG state in accordance with § 161 of the AktG:

Axel Springer AG complies with the recommendations made

in the version of the German Corporate Governance Code

that has been in force since July 4, 2003, deviating from

them in the following points:

1. Consequential loss insurance for the board members 

does not include deductible (sub-section 3.8, clause 3 

of the Code).

2. Although the consolidated financial statements for 2003

and the quarterly interim statements are still prepared in

accordance with the principles of the German Commer-

cial Code (HGB), internationally recognized accounting

principles will be applied to them following a transition

period (sub-section 7.1.1, clause 3 of the Code). The 

consolidated financial statements of the company for the

2004 financial year will likely be prepared in accordance

with IFRS/IAS.

3. The list published by the company of third-party com-

panies, in which it has a stake that is not of minor im-

portance to the company, includes the statutory details

(sub-section 7.1.4, clause 3 of the Code).

4. Information about compensation paid to the members of

the Management Board in the Notes to the consolidated

financial statements is not individualized (sub-section

4.2.4, clause 2 of the Code).

5. The compensation paid to the members of the Superviso-

ry Board is not listed in individualized form in the Notes

to the consolidated financial statements (sub-section

5.4.5, clause 6 of the Code).

Following the statement of compliance of December 2002,

Axel Springer AG complied with the recommendations of

the version of the Code in force from November 26, 2002

onwards, deviating from them in the aforementioned points

1 and 3 as well as with the following exceptions:

• Up to and including the 2003 financial year, company 

shareholders and third parties were kept informed through

the publication of a semiannual interim report prior to the

expiration of the legally defined deadline (sub-section

7.1.1 of the Code).

• The consolidated financial statements for 2002 and the

semiannual interim report as of June 30, 2003 were pre-

pared in accordance with the principles of the German

Commercial Code (HGB) (sub-section 7.1.1 of the Code).”

Berlin, December 2003

Management Board and Supervisory Board

FURTHER INFORMATION
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CORPORATE PRINCIPLES

Axel Springer is the only independent media company 
to have a corporate constitution since 1967. The five
preambles served as the fundamentals for publishing
operations during the year under review. The company
has also defined values that distinguish Axel Springer’s
specific corporate culture. Guidelines for safeguarding
journalistic independence at Axel Springer were added
in August 2003.

Corporate principles
The five socio-political preambles that were written by Axel

Springer in 1967, amended in 1990 and supplemented in

2001 are part of the articles of association of Axel Springer

AG. They paint a liberal picture of the world:

1. To uphold liberty and law in Germany, a country 

belonging to the Western family of nations, and to further

the unification of Europe.

2. To promote reconciliation of Jews and Germans and 

support the vital rights of the State of Israel.

3. To support the Transatlantic Alliance, and solidarity with

the United States of America in the common values of

free nations.

4. To reject all forms of political extremism.

5. To uphold the principles of a free social market economy.

The corporate constitution defines fundamental socio-

political convictions but does not offer opinions.

Corporate culture
The following corporate values are the foundation of our

corporate culture:

Creativity as the crucial basis for journalistic and business

success,

Entrepreneurial spirit, defined as imaginative, responsible

and result-oriented action taken by employees and manage-

ment,

Integrity towards the company, readers, customers, 

employees, business associates and shareholders.

Guidelines of journalistic independence
The editors-in-chief and publishing directors of the company

developed guidelines to guarantee journalistic independence

at Axel Springer and introduced them in August 2003 in

agreement with the Management Board.

The guidelines specify and extend the company’s under-

standing of the publishing principles of the press code of

conduct issued by the German Press Council. Observance 

of these guidelines by all the editors in their journalistic 

endeavors guarantees the general conditions that make in-

dependent and critical journalism possible. The editors-in-

chief are responsible for observance of the guidelines and

for their implementation in day-to-day business.

The guidelines deal with the distinction between advertising

and editorial copy as well as between the editors’ private 

and professional interests, prevent the exercise of personal

advantage and define a position with respect to the treatment

of sources. The complete guidelines can be found in the

internet (www.axelspringer.de/TheCompany/Brochures/

Download).
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EMPLOYEES

Qualified and dedicated employees are essential to the
success and future well-being of any company. Investing
in well-designed basic and advanced training programs
has therefore always been a high priority at Axel Springer.
Providing employees with systematic support and
encouragement is the only way to secure the long-term
development potential of a company as the size of the
workforce declines. 

Scheduled staff reduction completed on schedule
The scheduled 10% reduction in Group personnel by the end

of 2003 was completed respectively exceeded on time. A

restrictive hiring policy, natural attrition and the conclusion

of contracts allowing older employees to switch to part-time

jobs made it possible to achieve this objective in a socially

acceptable manner. The emphasis during the 2003 financial

year was on streamlining central functions and optimizing

company work processes. A process was begun to con-

centrate Group control functions in Berlin.

Basic and advanced training 
secure the future of the company
Personnel management is a critical factor in securing the

future success of a company during difficult economic times

when extreme pressures are exerted on cost and revenue

structures. The focus of our training measures was on making

employees more aware of customer needs and desires.

Axel Springer again demonstrated its commitment to busi-

ness and technical training during the year under review. The

Axel Springer Journalism Institute trained 68 young jour-

nalists. The stipend program aimed at training ambitious

young employees for specialized and management positions

was continued on the same scale. The company trainee pro-

gram was restarted after a one-year break. Both of these pro-

grams placed greater emphasis on training qualified recruits

to meet company requirements. Young employees were also

offered financial support to enable them to improve their

career-related commercial skills.

Program for recruiting 
young employees established
A program designed to facilitate the recruitment of young

employees was established in an effort to ensure an uninter-

rupted flow of new talent to the company. The company 

provides prospective graduates with real-world support in

developing degree-related theses. The students and trainees

expose the company to new ideas, approaches, and scientific

knowledge, and the company comes into contact with 

promising job candidates at an early stage.
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Expanded training program well received
The range of advanced training was extended in order to im-

prove specialized qualifications. Additional training programs

designed to meet special requirements were developed for

management staff and other employees in editorial positions.

Over 6 400 employees participated in one of the training

events organized by the company last year. While the em-

phasis during the previous year was still on appropriate soft-

ware training related to a changeover of computer systems,

training measures aimed at developing key qualifications in

specific areas played a particularly important role in 2003.

Employees were also able to help shape their own training

programs in moderated workshops. This made it possible to

create job-oriented training concepts and give employees 

a greater sense of personal responsibility for their own 

development.

Employee support at printing plants
Location-specific retraining and qualification programs were

systematically continued at the printing plants. Particular

emphasis was placed on encouraging specialists and managers

through the systematic development of their potential.

Electronic suggestion management
Suggestion management encourages employees to take 

personal initiative in developing proposals for improving

business procedures, capacity utilization, occupational health

and safety, environmental protection and technical progress

at the company.

An electronic suggestion management system was intro-

duced during the year under review to simplify the employee

suggestion program and speed the evaluation of suggestions.

A word of thanks to all employees
The Management Board would like to express its thanks to

all members of staff, who felt the pressures faced by the

company in 2003, for their hard work and dedication. Our

deceased colleagues are remembered with gratitude and

affection.



70

SUSTAINABILITY

Sustainability involves with the implementation and 
control of company processes and external activities
designed to ensure compliance with environmental and
social standards in the value-added chain. Axel Springer
AG is committed to systematic environmental manage-
ment while maintaining a high degree of transparency in
sustainability reporting. The objective is to achieve a
balance between economic profitability, positive social
impact and environmental soundness.

Environmental audit 
of the printing processes updated
Axel Springer reviews the company’s internal processes on

an ongoing basis as part of an active environmental manage-

ment program to ensure that the necessary standards are ob-

served. The Ahrensburg printing center and the Darmstadt

gravure printing plant updated their certification in accord-

ance with the EC environmental auditing regulations in

2003. The relevant environmental statements can be found

on the internet at www.axelspringer.de/Sustainability.

Transparent supply chain
Axel Springer systematically continued its program to

optimize the paper chain. About half of the paper used in

printing is recycled paper. Contracts with suppliers contain

provisions regarding environmental and forest management.

On-the-job accident prevention in the forestry industry is

another issue one of the social issues pursued with paper

suppliers.

Axel Springer buys some 450 000 tons of printing paper per

year from 60 paper mills in 15 different countries. Germany,

Finland, Sweden and Norway are among the most important

countries of origin. The paper suppliers are chosen not only

on the basis of product quality, supply reliability and market

prices but also on the basis of compliance with environmen-

tal requirements. A list of paper suppliers can be found on

the Internet.

WWF gives top marks to certified suppliers
The Russian wood supplier AO Volga obtained certification

for its compliance with Forest Stewardship Councils (FSC)

regulations as part of a pilot project supported by Axel

Springer. FSC certification is an international seal of quality

testifying to exemplary environmental, social and forestry

management. During the year under review, the paper sup-

plier received top marks from the environmental organiza-

tion WWF as part of an ecological rating project conducted

for the first time among Russian wood-processing companies.

FURTHER INFORMATION
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C O N S O L I D AT E D  B A L A N C E  S H E E T S

Assets Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002
Note no. d d ‘000

A. Fixed assets 6

I. Intangible assets 7 161 160 266 221 872

II. Tangible assets 1 034 564 949 523 906

III. Financial assets 8 88 784 499 104 488

1 284 509 714 850 266

B. Current assets

I. Inventories 9 50 341 400 137 005

II. Accounts receivable and other assets 10 356 940 147 476 631

III. Securities 11 189 103 644 5 082

IV. Cash and cash equivalents 12 294 807 280 76 426

891 192 471 695 144

C. Prepaid expenses 13 7 080 723 5 542

2 182 782 908 1 550 952

F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS
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Stockholders’ equity and liabilities Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002
Note no. d d ‘000

A. Stockholders’ equity

I. Subscribed capital 14 102 000 000 102 000

II. Revenue reserves 15 618 967 227 277 296

III. Consolidated retained earnings 80 890 406 41 578

IV. Minority interests 16 5 794 033 6 198

807 651 666 427 072

B. Provisions 18 826 982 659 634 147

C. Liabilities 19 490 712 348 441 650

D. Deferred income 20 57 436 235 48 083

2 182 782 908 1 550 952

CONSOLIDATED F INANCIAL  STATEMENTS F INANC IAL  STATEMENTS  AG     NOTES  GROUP AND AG
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20021)

2003 2002 adjusted
Note no. d d ‘000 d ‘000

1. Sales 23 2 434 737 473 2 776 640 2 403 720

2. Change in inventories of finished goods 

and work in progress – 357 503 – 5 681 – 1 330

3. Other operating income 24 129 711 758 232 177 207 398

4. Cost of materials 25 – 726 261 609 – 992 992 – 740 928

5. Gross profit 1 837 830 119 2 010 144 1 868 860

6. Personnel costs 26 – 836 488 212 – 908 092 – 841 371

7. Depreciation/amortization of intangible

and tangible assets 28 – 122 719 089 – 171 372 – 128 497

8. Other operating expenses 29 – 713 976 020 – 848 444 – 747 333

9. Income from equity holdings 30 27 061 896 35 059 35 031

10. Net interest balance 31 2 476 663 – 5 650 – 5 789

11. Depreciation of financial assets

and marketable securities 28 – 5 643 560 – 12 340 – 82 340

12. Expenditure on assumption of losses 32 – 216 771 – 847 – 847

13. Income from operations 188 325 026 98 458 97 714

14. Taxes 33 – 58 095 358 – 37 304 – 33 778

15. Consolidated net income 130 229 668 61 154 63 936

16. Loss brought forward from the previous year 0 – 202 263

17. Withdrawal of other revenue reserves 184 585 000 202 263

18. Transfer to the reserve for company’s share – 184 585 000 0

19. Transfer to other revenue reserves – 48 400 014 – 21 902

20. Earnings attributable to minority shareholders – 939 248 2 326

21. Consolidated retained earnings 80 890 406 41 578

EBITA reconciliation

Income from operations 188 325 026 98 458 97 714

Net interest balance – 2 476 663 5 650 5 789

Goodwill depreciation 40 694 158 66 700 34 905

EBITA including extraordinary items 226 542 521 170 808 138 408

Extraordinary items – 29 704 000 – 60 460 – 17 244

Adjusted EBITA 196 838 521 110 348 121 164

1) Adjusted to take account of the changes in the companies consolidated and the sales basis.
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2003 2002
d ‘000 d ‘000

Consolidated net income 130 230 61 154

Depreciation/appreciation of fixed assets 126 935 183 268

Changes in provisions 55 239 57 008

Other expense/income with no cash effect 0 – 14 685

Income/loss from the disposal of fixed assets – 29 939 – 126 122

Changes in inventories 5 908 51 712

Changes in trade accounts receivable – 1 710 – 21 037

Changes in other assets that are not attributable 
to investment or financing activities 9 686 25 186

Changes in trade accounts payable 13 414 – 41 888

Changes in other liabilities that are not attributable to
investment or financing activities – 1 983 3 883

Cash flow from operating activities 307 780 178 479

Inflow from the disposal of intangible assets 990 3 892

Inflow from the disposal of tangible assets 11 622 27 797

Inflow from the disposal of financial assets 9 669 4 556

Outflow for investments in intangible assets – 10 419 – 14 516

Outflow for investments in tangible assets – 139 226 – 156 346

Outflow for investments in financial assets – 8 413 – 9 704

Inflow from the sale of consolidated companies 148 727 86 765

Outflow for the acquisition of consolidated companies – 29 – 4 486

Cash flow from investment activities 12 921 – 62 042

Inflow from equity increase 2 960 10 190

Dividends paid – 22 100 0

Outflow for the buyback of company shares – 184 585 0

Dividends paid by subsidiaries to minority shareholders – 4 123 – 7 519

Inflow from the repayment of loans 120 000 44 681

Outflow for the repayment of loans – 16 914 – 140 994

Cash flow from financing activities – 104 762 – 93 642

Total cash flow 215 939 22 795

Funds on Dec. 31, 2003 299 326 1)

– Funds on Jan. 1, 2003 – 81 509 2)

+/– Changes in funds due to differences in the exchange rates – 1 975

+/– Changes in funds due to differences in the companies consolidated 97

Changes in funds with cash effects 215 939

1) Of which from companies consolidated on a pro rata basis a ‘000: 10 544.
2) Of which from companies consolidated on a pro rata basis a ‘000: 7 372.
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Subscribed Generated Accumulated other
capital Group equity comprehensive income

Adjustment from 
initial application 

of the German
Transparency and

Adjustment item / Disclosure Act
in d ‘000 Ordinary shares currency translation (TransPuG)

Dec. 31, 2002 102 000 319 528 – 654 0

Dividends paid 0 – 22 100 0 0

Revaluation of fixed assets 0 0 0 276 474

Miscellaneous changes 0 0 – 2 680 0

Net income 0 129 290 0 0

Other comprehensive income 0 0 0 0

Total comprehensive income – – – –

Dec. 31, 2003 102 000 426 718 – 3 334 276 474

Parent company

C O N S O L I D AT E D  S TAT E M E N T S  O F  S T O C K H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y
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Accumulated other
comprehensive income

Adjustment item /
currency translation

Minority- Group
Equity capital Equity equity

420 874 6 333 – 135 6 198 427 072

– 22 100 – 4 123 0 – 4 123 – 26 223

276 474 0 0 0 276 474

– 2 680 2 827 – 47 2 780 99

129 290 939 0 939 130 230

0 0 0 0 0

129 290 – – 939 130 230

801 858 5 976 – 182 5 794 807 652 

Minority interests



78

FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS

Newspapers Magazines

in d million 2003 20021) 2003 20021)

External sales 1 376.8 1 352.7 741.0 733.6

Internal sales 9.9 11.6 1.8 1.8

Division sales     1 386.7 1 364.3 742.8 735.4

Sales in Germany 1 303.4 1 276.6 549.1 551.8

Sales outside Germany 83.3 87.7 193.7 183.6

Division sales 1 386.7 1 364.3 742.8 735.4

EBITA 2) 147.1 104.7 40.1 30.8

of which depreciation – 24.7 – 28.1 – 13.1 – 16.9

of which income from equity holdings 9.6 8.6 7.2 8.6

Segment assets 3) 1 184.8 941.0 336.8 275.2

of which equity holdings 55.3 55.8 7.8 13.6

Investments 23.3 24.1 9.9 19.1

Segment debts 3) 522.9 439.4 229.4 202.1

Employees 5 158 5 495 2 826 2 641

G R O U P  S E G M E N T  R E P O R T

The newspapers segment consists of newsstand and Sunday newspapers, national and regional

subscription newspapers as well as free advertising publications. It also includes equity hold-

ings in newspaper publishers in Germany.

The magazines segment consists of TV guides as well as women’s, men’s, youth, computer,

business and family magazines. The range is supplemented by a large number of special-

interest magazines. This segment also includes equity holdings in magazine publishers in 

Germany and abroad.

The printing segment consists of four offset printing plants (including GMZ Druckerei), two

rotogravure printing plants and equity holdings in two offset printing companies abroad. The

purpose of the printing plants is to make sure the necessary printing capacities are available;

they aim to reach break-even in their operations.

1) Adjusted to take account of the changes in the companies consolidated.
2) EBITA 2003 generated by the segments reported have been adjusted by non-recurring extraordinary items amounting to a 29.7 million

(previous year: a 17.3 million).
3) The negative figure in the Other/consolidation column results from the reconciliation of segment assets and segment debts to the figures under 

commercial law and is attributable to financing between the segments.
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Printing Electronic media Other/consolidation Consolidated financial statements

2003 20021) 2003 20021) 2003 20021) 2003 20021)

135.5 137.7 72.0 70.2 109.4 109.5 2 434.7 2 403.7

459.3 465.1 5.0 5.6 14.9 13.2

594.8 602.8 77.0 75.8 124.3 122.7

557.2 563.5 76.2 75.5 108.0 103.6

37.6 39.3 0.8 0.3 16.3 19.1

594.8 602.8 77.0 75.8 124.3 122.7

1.6 1.8 6.2 – 16.4 1.8 0.3 196.8 121.2

– 40.4 – 44.4 – 3.6 – 5.9

1.6 1.8 10.4 4.6 

648.6 365.6 136.7 154.6 – 124.1 – 290.6 2 182.8 1 445.8

2.0 1.8 11.2 13.9

61.4 80.1 3.5 8.6

422.6 342.4 103.4 137.3 96.8 – 105.2 1 375.1 1 016.0

2 640 2 831 384 415

The electronic media segment consists of the activities in the audiotex, online and TV 

production fields as well as equity holdings in radio und television. The corporate venture 

capital company is also included in this segment.

The Other/consolidation column includes the distribution, direct marketing and insurance oper-

ations as well as the assets, debts, expenses and income that cannot be allocated to the individ-

ual segments. The Other/consolidation column has the additional purpose of reconciliation to

the figures shown under commercial law and does not represent a separate segment of its own.

The standard international indicator EBITA (Earnings before Interest, Tax and Amortization) is

used to indicate the segment results.

The sales made between the individual segments are shown as internal sales. They are allocated

on the basis of the costs incurred (cost centre principle).

Assets used by more than one segment and debts incurred by more than one segment are allo-

cated to the segments by applying appropriate formulae.
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Changes in the  
companies

Jan. 1, 2003 consolidated Additions Disposals
d d d d

Rights and licences 173 074 159  1 269 912  9 972 384  7 726 906  

Goodwill 291 301 537  – 79 625 314  28 826  86 478  

Advance payments 1 019 039  – 29 246  417 306  2 467  

Intangible assets 465 394 735  – 78 384 648  10 418 516  7 815 851  

Land, leasehold rights and buildings,
including buildings on land owned
by third parties 454 733 461  – 337 028  5 290 917  681 646  

Machinery and equipment 871 187 404  – 616 612  41 576 861  98 695 899  

Other fixtures, furniture
and office equipment 193 388 557  – 7 054 178  13 693 542  25 690 279  

Advance payments and construction in process 170 023 560  – 2 000  78 664 867  147 382  

Tangible assets 1 689 332 982  – 8 009 818  139 226 187  125 215 206  

Shares in affiliated companies 78 606 472  – 18 784 655  4 227 316  4 046 971  

Loans to affiliated companies 7 265 197  0  203 634  4 791 038  

Equity holdings 113 407 409  1 903  2 827 203  1 836 535  

Loans to associated companies 745 893  0  375 873  337 298  

Securities held as fixed assets 0  0  0  0  

Other loans 3 140 232  0  778 779  1 352 122  

Financial assets 203 165 203  – 18 782 752  8 412 805  12 363 964  

Fixed assets – Group 2 357 892 920  – 105 177 218  158 057 508  145 395 021  

C O N S O L I D AT E D  S TAT E M E N T S  O F  F I X E D  A S S E T S  

Historical and production cost
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In the
Reclassifications Write-ups Total financial year Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002

d d d d d d ‘000

1 109 982  0  110 524 249  13 398 596  67 175 282  66 325  

0  0  118 050 893  41 246 852  93 567 678  154 681  

– 987 326  0  0  0  417 306  866  

122 656  0  228 575 142  54 645 448  161 160 266  221 872  

5 875 989  0  119 334 125  8 301 132  345 547 568  165 806  

65 495 303  0  418 837 252  44 331 676  460 109 805  143 241   

1 128 947  0  122 196 187  15 265 012  53 270 402  44 939  

– 72 622 895  0  278 976  175 821  175 637 174  169 920  

– 122 656  0  660 646 540  68 073 641  1 034 564 949  523 906   

0  0  42 979 670  5 198 134  17 022 492  34 266  

0  0  1 851 108  0  826 685  727  

0  1 425 705  46 744 917  395 086  67 655 063  65 631  

0  0  50 340  50 340  734 128  746  

0  0  0  0  0  0  

0  1 942  20 758  0  2 546 131  3 118  

0  1 427 647  91 646 793  5 643 560  88 784 499  104 488   

0  1 427 647  980 868 475  128 362 649  1 284 509 714  850 266   

Depreciation Book value
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Assets Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002
Note no. d d ‘000

A. Fixed assets 6

I. Intangible assets 7 15 441 305 11 465

II. Tangible assets 511 249 067 469 507

III. Financial assets 8 444 809 735 443 882

971 500 107 924 854

B. Current assets

I. Inventories 9 39 242 438 46 946

II. Accounts receivable and other assets 10 298 233 385 367 424

III. Securities 11 184 585 000 0

IV.  Cash and cash equivalents 12 274 110 968 55 711

796 171 791 470 081

C. Prepaid expenses 13 3 848 900 2 174

1 771 520 798 1 397 109

Stockholders’ equity and liabilities Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002
Note no. d d ‘000

A. Stockholders’ equity

I. Subscribed capital 14 102 000 000 102 000

II. Revenues reserves 15 294 608 747 194 241

III. Consolidated retained earnings 80 890 406 41 578

477 499 153 337 819

B. Special reserves with an equity portion 17 18 181 339 28 346

C. Provisions 18 495 472 000 444 699

D. Liabilities 19 744 970 402 555 535

E. Deferred income 20 35 397 904 30 710

1 771 520 798 1 397 109

B A L A N C E  S H E E T S
Axel Springer AG
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2003 2002
Note no. d d ‘000

1. Sales 23 1 739 450 174 1 701 277

2. Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress – 154 985 – 1 669

3. Other operating income 24 215 889 294 236 997

4. Cost of materials 25 – 506 661 308 – 530 387

5. Gross profit 1 448 523 175 1 406 218

6. Personnel costs 26 – 620 598 375 – 609 991

7. Depreciation/amortization of

intangible and tangible assets 28 – 89 405 902 – 72 366

8. Other operating expenses 29 – 520 195 552 – 569 228

9. Income from equity holdings 30 38 061 554 58 084

10. Net interest balance 31 – 10 122 358 – 4 161

11. Depreciation of financial assets and marketable securities 28 – 27 790 503 – 24 040

12. Expenditure on assumption of losses 32 – 19 971 390 – 91 551

13. Income from operations 198 500 649 92 965

14. Taxes 33 – 36 719 837 – 9 809

15. Net income 161 780 812 83 156

16. Loss brought forward from the previous year 0 – 175 841

17. Withdrawal of other revenue reserves 184 585 000 175 841

18. Transfer to the reserve for company’s share – 184 585 000 0

19. Transfer to other revenue reserves – 80 890 406 – 41 578

20. Retained earnings 80 890 406 41 578

I N C O M E  S TAT E M E N T S
Axel Springer AG
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Jan. 1, 2003 Additions Disposals
d d d

Rights and licences 45 541 366   7 844 503   2 794 686   

Advance payments 817 533   338 953   0   

Intangible assets 46 358 899   8 183 456   2 794 686   

Land, leasehold rights and buildings,
including buildings on land owned
by third parties 373 917 819   5 059 246   228 455   

Machinery and equipment 774 618 024   39 781 955   90 647 359   

Other fixtures, furniture and
office equipment 138 399 070   9 292 764   15 889 242   

Advance payments and construction in process 168 658 657   74 528 499   144 076   

Tangible assets 1 455 593 570   128 662 464   106 909 132   

Shares in affiliated companies 428 515 122   16 499 357   14 374 823   

Loans to affiliated companies 23 855 011   9 295 014   4 687 207   

Equity holdings 111 588 736   2 451 505   1 286 207   

Loans to associated companies 0   375 873   37 500   

Other loans 1 871 478   778 778   553 396   

Financial assets 565 830 347   29 400 527   20 939 133   

Fixed assets – Axel Springer AG 2 067 782 816   166 246 447   130 642 951   

S TAT E M E N T S  O F  F I X E D  A S S E T S  
Axel Springer AG

Historical and production cost
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In the
Reclassifications Write-ups Total financial year Dec. 31, 2003 Dec. 31, 2002

d d d d d d ‘000

940 189   0   36 429 020   4 060 191   15 102 352   10 648   

– 817 533   0   0   0   338 953   817    

122 656   0   36 429 020   4 060 191   15 441 305   11 465   

5 875 988   0   259 127 030   16 198 312   125 497 568   130 774    

65 710 615   0   599 859 964   54 980 658   189 603 271   139 726    

195 247   0   106 988 185   14 166 741   25 009 654   30 349    

– 71 904 506   0   0   0   171 138 574   168 658   

– 122 656   0   965 975 179   85 345 711   511 249 067   469 507     

11 600 000   5 109 296   92 024 959   27 671 161   350 214 697   349 791   

– 11 600 000   0   1 851 108   0   15 011 710   17 317   

0   1 199 053   35 554 218   69 003   77 199 816   74 904    

0   0   50 340   50 339   288 033   0   

0   0   1 381   0   2 095 479   1 870    

0   6 308 349   129 482 006   27 790 503   444 809 735   443 882   

0   6 308 349   1 131 886 205   117 196 405   971 500 107   924 854   

Depreciation Book value
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N O T E S
Group and Axel Springer AG

General information

1. Preliminary remarks

To simplify reporting procedures and avoid repetition, the notes relating to the consolidated 

statements of the Axel Springer Group and to the financial statements of Axel Springer AG

have been combined. Unless indicated otherwise, the notes refer to both sets of financial 

statements.

In the interests of clarity, individual items in the balance sheets and the income statements 

have been combined and presented separately in the notes. As in the previous years, the income

statements were compiled by the cost summary method.

2. Consolidated companies

Number of consolidated companies:

Dec. 31, Dec. 31,
2003 2002

Germany 37 41

Other countries 18 15

Total 55 56

In 2003, 50 subsidiaries (previous year: 51) were consolidated in addition to Axel Springer AG.

Four joint ventures (previous year: four) were also consolidated on a pro rata basis.

Fünfzehnte "Media" Vermögensverwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, "Overbruck" Spedition GmbH,

Z.Z.-Verlagsservice Eichberg GmbH & Co. KG and Ullstein Heyne List GmbH & Co. KG 

were deconsolidated effective as of January 1, 2003 because they were sold. Axel Springer TV

NEWS GmbH was deconsolidated on the same date. Following the transfer of its business 

operations to Axel Springer Verlag Vertriebsgesellschaft mbH, Koralle Verlag GmbH was

deconsolidated effective as of April 1, 2003. Weltkunst Verlag GmbH was deconsolidated 

effective as of September 30, 2003 because it was sold.

All the companies consolidated are shown in the list of equity holdings on page 108 ff.

The exemption rules stipulated by § 264 paragraph 3 and § 264b of the German Commercial

Code (HGB) were applied.
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The figures given in the consolidated income statements for the previous year were adjusted in

the notes to eliminate the companies sold at the end of 2002 and the beginning of 2003 in order

to improve comparability. Further subsidiaries were not included in the companies consolidated as

they only play a minor role (both individually and collectively) as far as the presentation of a

true and fair view of the net worth, financial position and earnings situation is concerned.

3. Principles of consolidation 

Capital consolidation of the newly consolidated companies and of the increases in equity hold-

ings was carried out by the book value method, i.e. the investment amount was offset against

the pro rata equity. The qualifying date for capital consolidation of the companies consolidated

for the first time is the beginning of the financial year or the date of foundation.

Capital consolidation for the first time led to differences of a 13.5 million on the assets side.

The relevant amount is shown as goodwill and – like the goodwill created by capital consolidation

in the previous years – will be amortized over a period of ten years.

The differences included with no effect on earnings up to the 2000 financial year at the com-

panies deconsolidated in the financial year were taken into account with no effect on earnings

at the time of deconsolidation. The goodwill of the companies concerned that had not yet been

amortized was written off and charged to earnings.

The proportions of the equity and profits of the subsidiaries that are attributable to external 

shareholders have been shown in the minority interests item.

Intercompany receivables and liabilities were eliminated. The sales generated by the companies

included in the consolidated financial statements as well as the other trade income were offset

against the relevant expenses incurred in the consolidated income statement.

4. Accounting and valuation principles

The same acounting and valuation principles for Axel Springer AG were applied as in 2002,

with the exception of the change in the translation of short-term receivables and liabilities that

is explained in this section. In the Group, the same accounting and valuation principles were

applied as in 2002, with the exception of the changes outlined below.

In the past, Axel Springer has exercised the option provided by § 308 paragraph 3 of the old

version of the HGB (German Commercial Code) and has included valuations in the consolidated

financial statements, recognition of which in the determination of taxable profits has depended

on their being included accordingly in the individual financial statements compiled in accord-

ance with commercial law too.

§ 308 paragraph 3 of the old version of the HGB was cancelled with effect from January 1,

2003 as a result of the German Transparency and Disclosure Act (TransPuG). In view of the 

elimination of the option provided under commercial law and in accordance with the future
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accounting based on the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), the valuations

included for the intangible assets and tangible assets were adjusted to comply with the

changes in the legal regulations (special depreciation charges, switches from decreasing-balance

to straight-line depreciation, useful lives).

The adjustments made effective as of January 1, 2003 led to an increase of a 457.0 million in

fixed assets. This increase can be broken down as follows into the residual book values of the

individual asset items:

in d million

Intangible assets 4.2 

Land, leasehold rights and buildings 177.5

Machinery and equipment 261.8

Other fixtures, furniture and office equipment 13.5

The difference resulting from the adjustments that relates to the period up to December 31,

2002 (a 276.5 million) was allocated to the revenue reserves with no effect on earnings in

accordance with article 54 paragraph 2 of the German Commercial Code introductory law 

following deduction of the deferred taxes on income.

The deferred taxes on income of a 180.5 million were included in the tax provisions with no

effect on earnings either. 

In accordance with the future IFRS accounting, receivables and liabilities denominated in

foreign currencies that were due within one year were translated at the European Central Bank

(ECB) reference exchange rate or the mean foreign exchange rate on the balance sheet date.

The valuation lump sum for the lump-sum provisions made to take account of specific 

individual risks was reduced as well.

In accordance with the future IFRS accounting and to improve presentation of the earnings 

situation, entry of the sales generated in connection with the telephone number sequence 0137-X

has been switched from the gross method to the net method.

The consolidated net income for the year before tax was increased by a 12.7 million by the

change in the valuation principles. a 8.5 million of this amount were accounted for by the 

revaluation of fixed assets and a 4.2 million by the reduction in the valuation lump sum for 

the lump-sum provisions made to take account of specific individual risks.

As a result of accounting measures taken in accordance with § 285 no. 5 of the German Com-

mercial Code (HGB/old version), the net income for the year at Axel Springer AG decreased

by about 3% respectively by EUR 4.9 million. The consequent reductions in depreciation

charges will lead to higher taxes on income in the subsequent years.
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The same classification and valuation methods as at Axel Springer AG were applied in the con-

solidated financial statements. Consistent use of valuation options and the same balance sheet

date at all consolidated companies as chosen for the financial statements of Axel Springer AG

maximize the information value of the consolidated financial statements.

The following notes apply to the valuation of the individual balance sheet items:

Intangible assets and tangible assets in the Group were valued at historical or production cost,

with the deduction of scheduled depreciation by the straight-line method and any unscheduled

depreciation charges. Scheduled depreciation was made according to the probable economic

useful life of the individual assets. Goodwill that is not created by capital consolidation was

amortized over 15 years, whereas minor-value assets were written off in full in their year of

acquisition.

Intangible assets and tangible assets at Axel Springer AG were valued at historical or production

cost. Scheduled depreciation of the intangible assets was made according to the probable or

contractually agreed useful life. Scheduled depreciation of the tangible assets was made ac-

cording to their assumed useful life. The decreasing-balance depreciation method was applied

in all cases, followed by a switch to the straight-line method at a later date.

The shares in affiliated companies, the equity holdings and the interest-bearing loans were

valued at the lower of their historical cost or current value. The equity valuation method was

not applied to associated companies, as the impact of this on the Group’s net worth, financial

position and earnings situation would be minimal.

Current assets were valued at acquisition or production cost, taking the lower of cost or market

principle into account.

Production costs include not only material costs and manufacturing expenses but also an appro-

priate amount to cover the proportions of overheads that require capitalisation and depreciation.

Trade accounts receivable were stated at their nominal value after making specific provisions to

take account of all discernible risks. Lump-sum provisions were made to allow for general risks.

The pension provisions were determined in accordance with actuarial principles.

The other provisions were determined in accordance with sound commercial judgement.

Liabilities were valued at their redemption amount.
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5. Currency translation

Receivables and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that were due within one year

were translated at the ECB reference exchange rate or the mean foreign exchange rate on the

balance sheet date. Receivables and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that were due

within more than one year were translated at the mean exchange rate on the entry date or the

lower/higher ECB reference exchange rate or mean foreign exchange rate on the balance sheet

date. The balance sheet items and the expenditure and income items of consolidated subsidia-

ries from outside the Currency Union were translated at the ECB reference exchange rate or at

the mean foreign exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date. Translation differences

were offset against the Group’s revenue reserves with no effect on net earnings.

Explanatory notes to the balance sheets

6. Fixed assets

The changes in the individual fixed asset items in the year under review are shown in the 

statements of fixed assets for the Group and Axel Springer AG.

The changes to the companies consolidated are shown in a separate column in the consolidated

statements of fixed assets.

7. Intangible assets

The main items included in intangible assets apart from goodwill are publication rights, title

rights, supply rights, licences and data processing software.

8. Financial assets

The main equity holdings of Axel Springer AG can be found in the list of equity holdings on

page 108 ff. of the Annual Report.

In accordance with § 287 and § 313 paragraph 4 of the German Commercial Code (HGB), 

the list of equity holdings of Axel Springer AG and the Group is deposited with the Commercial

Register at Berlin-Charlottenburg Court.

9. Inventories

Group Axel Springer AG

in d ‘000 2003 2002 2003 2002

Raw materials and supplies 38 500 103 894 32 958 40 853

Work in progress 8 488 13 512 5 631 5 358

Finished goods and merchandise 3 353 19 599 653 735

Total 50 341 137 005 39 242 46 946
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The reduction in the inventories by comparison with the previous year is attributable essentially

to the sale of Ullstein Heyne List GmbH & Co. KG. The largest item in the raw materials and

supplies are paper stocks at a 18.1 million (Axel Springer AG: a 16.6 million).

10. Accounts receivable and other assets

Group Axel Springer AG

in d ‘000 2003 2002 2003 2002

Trade accounts receivable 210 338 272 594 122 896 121 511
– of which due in more than one year 64 110 64 59

Receivables from affiliated companies 6 744 12 115 66 817 103 325
– of which due in more than one year 0 750 0 750  

Receivables from associated companies 36 834 32 698 35 775 26 866
– of which due in more than one year 50 381 50 381  

Other assets 103 024 159 224 72 745 115 722
– of which due in more than one year 4 581 5 030 4 802 5 663  

Total 356 940 476 631 298 233 367 424

– of which due in more than one year 4 695 6 271 4 916 6 853  

Group trade accounts receivable can be broken down essentially as follows: retail business 

a 84.7 million, advertising business a 73.1 million and contract printing a 18.9 million.

Other assets include financial assets that are to be sold, claims on the tax authorities and a

large number of smaller individual items as well as a purchase price receivable due after the

balance sheet date in connection with the sale of an equity holding.

11. Securities

Group Axel Springer AG

in d ‘000 2003 2002 2003 2002

Company shares 184 585 0 184 585 0

Other securities 4 519 5 082 0 0

189 104 5 082 184 585 0

On the basis of the authorization given by the annual shareholders’ meeting on April 16, 2003, 

a total of 3 400 000 of the company’s shares were bought back via the stock market on Novem-

ber 21, 2003 at a price of a 54.00. These shares have a nominal value of a 10 200 000 and

represent 10% of the share capital.
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This enables Axel Springer to participate in the increase of the company’s value by selling or

using its own shares as acquisition currency.

The other securities act as temporary investments for proportions of the funds of consolidated

subsidiaries.

12. Cash and cash equivalents

Group Axel Springer AG

in d ‘000 2003 2002 2003 2002

Cash 543 801 358 482

Bank deposits 291 523 74 237 271 116 54 040

Checks 2 741 1 388 2 637 1 189

Total 294 807 76 426 274 111 55 711

13. Prepaid expenses

This item on the balance sheet includes in particular rent paid in advance and payments for

bought-in services.

14. Subscribed capital

The subscribed capital of a 102 000 000 has been fully paid up and is the same as in the 

previous year. It is divided up into 34 000 000 registered shares with no par value that can only

be transferred with the company’s approval.

On the balance sheet date, Axel Springer Gesellschaft für Publizistik GmbH & Co, Berlin, was

registered as holding an interest of more than 50% (50% + 10 shares).

Friede Springer holds an interest of 90% in Axel Springer Gesellschaft für Publizistik GmbH &

Co, Berlin, and was also entered directly in the Axel Springer AG share register with an interest

of 10.0% on the balance sheet date.
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15. Revenue reserves

Group Axel Springer AG

in d ‘000 2003 2002 2003 2002

Legal reserve 10 200 10 200 10 200 10 200

Reserve for company shares 184 585 0 184 585 0

Other revenue reserves 424 182 267 096 99 824 184 041

Total 618 967 277 296 294 609 194 241

A reserve for company shares corresponding to the historical cost was formed in accordance

with § 272 paragraph 4 of the German Commercial Code (HGB). In view of the share price

development, it was not necessary to correct the reserve on the balance sheet date.

The other revenue reserves developed as follows:

in d ‘000 Group Axel Springer AG

Balance on Jan. 1, 2003 267 096 184 041

TransPuG adjustment 276 474 –

Profit transfer from the retained earnings in 2002 19 478 19 478

Withdrawal for own company shares – 184 585 – 184 585

Profit transfer 48 400 80 890

Currency translation difference – 2 681 –

Balance on Dec. 31, 2003 424 182 99 824

16. Minority interests

Minority interests developed as follows:

in d ‘000 

Balance on Jan. 1, 2003 6 198

Changes resulting from consolidation
and deconsolidation 2 827

Divident payments – 4 123

Shares of profits in 2003 3 326

Shares of losses in 2003 – 2 387

Currency translation difference – 47

Balance on Dec. 31, 2003 5 794
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17. Special reserves with an equity portion

The special reserves with an equity portion at Axel Springer AG include reserves in accord-

ance with § 6b of the German Income Tax Act (EStG). The income from the release of these

reserves is offset by expenditure of the same size.

18. Provisions

Group Axel Springer AG

in d million 2003 2002 2003 2002

Provisions for pensions and
similar commitments 266.4 258.9 237.7 233.7

Tax provisions 249.6 49.1 45.2 31.5

Other provisions 311.0 326.1 212.6 179.5

Total 827.0 634.1 495.5 444.7

The pension provisions include the obligations arising from contractual commitments with

individuals and company agreements. An interest rate of 6% was applied when calculating the

current value of the pension commitments.

The tax provisions in the Group relate primarily to deferred taxes, which are attributable in

particular to revaluation of the fixed assets in connection with the application for the first time

of German Transparency and Disclosure Act (TransPuG). Provisions for taxes on income are

also included here.

The main items included in the other provisions were as follows:

Group Axel Springer AG

in d million 2003 2002 2003 2002

Structural measures 54.8 53.5 43.6 32.2

Part-time working scheme for older employees 43.3 32.9 35.3 27.7

Returns, discount credits and bonus credits 39.9 50.5 13.6 12.8

Outstanding suppliers’ invoices 39.4 46.6 20.2 17.9

Holiday entitlement 23.0 26.1 18.7 20.6

The other provisions also include amounts for tantièmes, commercial agents’ claims to com-

pensation, legal costs, work safety associations as well as anniversary and loyalty bonuses.
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19. Liabilities

Group Axel Sringer AG

in d ‘000 2003 2002 2003 2002

Accounts payable to banks 197 603 94 344 186 854 81 052
– of which due within one year 10 885 16 606 10 278 14 198  

Advances received on orders 2 154 5 985 1 374 3 315
– of which due within one year 2 154 5 985 1 374 3 315  

Trade accounts payable 139 361 179 816 82 865 82 616
– of which due within one year 139 329 164 559 82 833 82 488 

Accounts payable to 24 025 31 646 378 103 302 536
affiliated companies
– of which due within one year 24 025 31 646 378 103 302 536  

Accounts payable to 14 206 13 208 5 895 4 264
associated companies
– of which due within one year 14 206 13 208 5 895 4 264  

Other liabilities 113 363 116 651 89 879 81 752
– of which due within one year 104 239 106 173 83 288 69 380  

– of which taxes 28 161 27 357 22 271 18 626

– of which social security 16 477 16 865 11 936 11 205

Total 490 712 441 650 744 970 555 535

– of which due within one year 294 838 338 177 561 771 476 181  

Accounts payable in more than five years amounting to a 43 052 000 (Axel Springer AG: 

a 36 341 000) are included in the accounts payable to banks, while an amount of a 27 000

(Axel Springer AG: a 0) is included in the other liabilities – making a total of a 43 079 000

(Axel Springer AG: a 36 341 000).

Liabilities secured by mortgages amounted to a total of a 100 394 000 (Axel Springer AG: 

a 89 201 000) in the year under review. a 97 470 000 (Axel Springer AG: a 86 854 000) of

the accounts payable to banks and a 2 924 000 (Axel Springer AG: a 2 347 000) of the 

other liabilities were secured by mortgages.
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20. Deferred income

Deferred income relates primarily to prepaid subscriptions and deferred investment grants.

21. Contingent liabilities

The contingent liabilities from guarantee commitments amounted to a 26 897 000 (previous

year: a 26 935 000) in the Group and a 25 800 000 (previous year: a 26 316 000) at Axel

Springer AG. There were also contingent liabilities from declarations of support to lenders

amounting to a 0 in the Group (previous year: a 18 371 000) and a 488 000 (previous year: 

a 476 000) at Axel Springer AG.

22. Other financial commitments

The commitments arising from rental, leasehold and leasing agreements can be broken down by

maturity dates as follows:

in d ‘000 Group Axel Springer AG

Due in 2004 156 466 148 843

Due between 2005 and 2008 319 985 306 733

Due after 2008 105 218 104 658

Miscellaneous financial commitments, which relate among other things to investment projects

(e.g. purchasing commitments), amounted to a 90 722 000 (Axel Springer AG: a 90 385 000).

The other financial commitments to affiliated companies totalled a 0 (Axel Springer AG: 

a 5 022 000).

Explanatory notes to the income statements

The figures given in the consolidated income statements for the previous year were adjusted to

eliminate the companies sold at the end of 2002 and the beginning of 2003 in order to improve

comparability.

23. Sales

Breakdown by sectors Group Axel Springer AG

in d million 2003 2002 2003 2002

Retail 1 163.2 1 106.3 856.3 809.5

Advertisements 954.6 980.0 663.0 671.3

Other revenues 316.9 317.4 220.2 220.5

Total 2 434.7 2 403.7 1 739.5 1 701.3
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Breakdown by divisions Group Axel Springer AG

in d million 2003 2002 2003 2002

Newspapers 1 376.8 1 352.7 1 057.5 1 009.9

Magazines 741.0 733.6 461.8 470.9

Electronic media 72.0 70.2 1.5 0.6

Contract printing 135.5 137.7 191.9 194.4

Other revenues 109.4 109.5 26.8 25.5

Total 2 434.7 2 403.7 1 739.5 1 701.3

Sales outside Germany in the Group amounted to a 331.7 million (previous year: a 330.0 

million). The foreign sales by Axel Springer AG totalled a 83.7 million (previous year: a 87.8

million). This corresponds to 13.6% of total sales (Axel Springer AG: 4.8%). Changes in the

foreign currency translation impacted sales outside Germany by – a 20.5 million.

24. Other operating income

Group Axel Springer AG

in d ‘000 2003 2002 2003 2002

Income from fixed assets disposals,
write-ups and deconsilation 39 401 117 651 89 622 116 959

Income from the release of provisions 23 149 16 238 17 184 19 591

Income from the release of special reserves 
with an equity portion 0 15 688 10 165 0

The decrease in other operating income in the Group is attributable essentially to lower 

income from the sale of consolidated companies and tangible assets. Other items that are 

included are income from canteens and auxiliary operations, income from the release of 

special provisions and lease/rent income.

At Axel Springer AG, the services charged to Group companies are included.

25. Cost of materials

Group Axel Springer AG

in d ‘000 2003 2002 2003 2002

Raw materials, supplies and
purchased merchandise 334 113 351 823 282 543 297 009

Purchased services 392 149 389 105 224 118 233 378

Total 726 262 740 928 506 661 530 387

The expenditure on raw materials, supplies and purchased merchandise relates essentially

to paper and ink consumption.
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Printing jobs carried out by external printing companies and fee expenditure are the main items

reported as purchased services.

26. Personnel costs

Group Axel Springer AG

in d ‘000 2003 2002 2003 2002

Wages and salaries 704 444 710 043 524 174 514 065

Social security contributions 105 066 104 285 74 370 72 850

Retirement pensions 23 367 23 002 20 059 20 536

Financial support 3 611 4 041 1 995 2 540

Total 836 488 841 371 620 598 609 991

The figures given for the number of employees in the previous year were adjusted to eliminate

the companies sold at the end of 2002 and the beginning of 2003 in order to improve compara-

bility. The average number of employees during the year by occupational category was as follows:

Group Axel Springer AG

Number 2003 2002 2003 2002

Editorial staff 3 193 3 209 1 622 1 676

Salaried employees 6 055 6 207 3 320 3 501

Wage-earning employees 2 446 2 678 2 106 2 256

Total 11 694 12 094 7 048 7 433

721 employees worked for joint ventures on average over the year.

27. Supervisory Board and Management Board

A list of the members of the Supervisory Board can be found on page 12 of the Annual Report.

The following members of the Supervisory Board were also members of other legally prescribed

supervisory boards and comparable national and international boards in the 2003 financial year:

Dr Giuseppe Vita

Membership of other legally prescribed 
supervisory boards:
• Allianz Lebensversicherungs-AG
• BEWAG AG (until January 31, 2003)
• Degussa AG (until February 18, 2003)
• Hugo Boss AG (Chairman)
• Medical Park AG (since March 1, 2003)
• Schering AG (Chairman)
• Vattenfall Europe AG

Membership of comparable 
international boards:
• Riunione Adriatica di Sicurtà (RAS) S.p.A.,

Italy (Chairman Administrative Board)
• Techosp S.p.A., Italy (Administrative Board)
• Marzotto S.p.A., Italy (Administrative Board)
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Dr h.c. Friede Springer

Membership of other legally prescribed 
supervisory boards:
• Alba Berlin AG (since May 2, 2003) 

Dr Gerhard Cromme

Membership of other legally prescribed 
supervisory boards:
• Allianz AG
• Deutsche Lufthansa AG
• E.ON AG
• Ruhrgas AG
• Siemens AG (since January 23, 2003)
• ThyssenKrupp AG (Chairman)
• Volkswagen AG

Membership of comparable
international boards:
• Suez S.A., France
• BNP Paribas S.A., France

Leonhard H. Fischer

Membership of other legally prescribed 
supervisory boards:
• DBV Winterthur Holding AG (Chairman)

(since June 5, 2003)
• Deutsche Börse AG (Deputy Chairman)

(until May 14, 2003)
• EUREX Clearing AG (until March 25, 2003)
• EUREX Frankfurt AG (until March 25, 2003)
• K + S Aktiengesellschaft (until May 7, 2003)
• Winterthur Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH

(Chairman) (since April 25, 2003)
• WinCom Versicherungs-Holding AG 

(Chairman) (since April 25, 2003)

Membership of comparable
international boards:
• EUREX Zürich AG, Switzerland 

(until March 25, 2003)

Dr Michael Otto

Membership of other legally prescribed 
supervisory boards:
• Deutsche Bank AG
• Gerling-Konzern Versicherungs-

Beteiligungs-AG
• Schwab Versand GmbH

Membership of comparable national and
international boards:
• Verwaltungsgesellschaft Baur Versand mbH

(Chairman of the Advisory Board)
• FORUM Grundstücksgesellschaft mbH

(Member of the Advisory Board)
• Handelsgesellschaft Heinrich Heine GmbH

(Chairman of the Advisory Board)
• 3 Suisses International S.A., France 

(Member of the Administrative Board)
• Crate & Barrel Holdings, Inc., USA 

(Chairperson of the Board)
• Euromarket Designs, Inc., USA 

(Chairperson of the Board)
• Freemans plc, Great Britain 

(Chairperson of the Board)
• Grattan plc, Great Britain 

(Chairperson of the Board)
• Otto-Sumisho Inc., Japan 

(Chairman of the Administrative Board)
• Spiegel, Inc., USA 

(Chairperson of the Board)

Brian M. Powers (since November 24, 2003)

Membership of comparable 
international boards:
• SLEC Holdings Limited, Great Britain

(Director)
• Bambino Holdings Limited, Great Britain

(Director)

Dr Joachim Theye

Membership of other legally prescribed 
supervisory boards:
• Babcock Borsig AG (until March 10, 2003)
• Gerling-Konzern Globale Rückversicherungs-

AG (until December 29, 2003)
• Gerling-Konzern Rheinische

Versicherungsgruppe AG (Chairman)
(until August 8, 2003)

• Gerling-Konzern Versicherungs-
Beteiligungs-AG (Chairman)

• I-D Media AG (Chairman) 
(until June 24, 2003)

The remuneration paid to the members of the Supervisory Board amounted to a 1 558 000 in the

year under review. a 568 000 of this amount were fixed payments, while a 990 000 were variable

payments.
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Dr Mathias Döpfner 

Journalist 

CEO 

Head of the Newspapers Division

Membership of other legally prescribed 

supervisory boards:

• ProSiebenSAT.1 Media AG 

• Schering AG

Membership of comparable domestic boards: 

• dpa Deutsche Presse Agentur GmbH

(Supervisory Board)

• SAT 1 Beteiligungs GmbH 

(Supervisory Board) (until April 3, 2003)

• AKTUELL Presse-Fernsehen GmbH 

& Co. KG (Supervisory Board)

• Leipziger Verlags- und Druckereigesell-

schaft mbH & Co. KG

(Advisory Board) 

Rudolf Knepper

Diplomingenieur and 

Diplomwirtschaftsingenieur

Deputy Chairman

Head of the Printing and 

Logistics Division

Hubertus Meyer-Burckhardt

TV producer

Head of the Electronic Media Division

Membership of other legally prescribed 

supervisory boards:

• Bild.T-Online.de Verwaltungs AG

(Supervisory Board)

• ProSiebenSAT.1 Media AG 

(since August 20, 2003)

Membership of comparable domestic boards:

• SAT 1 Beteiligungs GmbH

(Supervisory Board)

Steffen Naumann

Diplombetriebswirt and Diplomvolkswirt

Chief Operating Officer and 

Chief Financial Officer

Membership of comparable 

international boards:  

• Axel Springer Young Mediahouse a.s.,

Czech Republic (Supervisory Board)

• Axel Springer International Finance B.V.,

Netherlands (Supervisory Board)

Dr Andreas Wiele

Jurist

Head of the Magazines and 

International Divisions

Membership of comparable domestic and 

international boards: 

• Jahr Top Special Verlag GmbH & Co. KG

(Advisory Board) 

• Axel Springer Young Mediahouse a.s.,

Czech Republic (Supervisory Board)

• Handelszeitung und Finanzrundschau AG,

Switzerland (Administrative Board)

The members of the Management Board in the 2003 financial year were:

The remuneration paid to the members of the Management Board in the financial year that

ended on December 31, 2003 amounted to a 17 268 000. a 6 493 000 of this amount were

fixed payments, while a 10 775 000 were variable payments. The variable position also contains

provisions for payments depending on the performance which are presumably payable in 2004.

Part of this variable remuneration is dependent on reaching a defined company value, which is

based on EBITA. The remuneration does not comprise stock options or similar instruments.
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a 1 939 000 were paid to former members of the Management Board and their dependants,

while a 26 000 were paid to former members of special executive bodies. Pension provisions

totalling a 23 070 000 have been made in respect of former members of the Management

Board and their dependants, whereas the pension provisions made in respect of former 

members of special executive bodies amount to a 231 000.

28. Depreciation

The depreciation charge made for intangible assets included a 26 620 000 for scheduled good-

will depreciation arising from capital consolidation and a 14 074 000 for unscheduled goodwill

depreciation arising from capital consolidation.

Unscheduled depreciation in accordance with § 253 paragraphs 2 and 3 of the German 

Commercial Code (HGB) amounted in total to a 20 198 000 in the Group and a 27 791 000 

at Axel Springer AG.

The impact of the sale of Ullstein Heyne List GmbH & Co. KG on Group earnings is 

summarized in the depreciation of financial assets in the adjusted income statements for 2002.

29. Other operating expenses

This item consists essentially of postal and forwarding costs, advertising costs, third-party 

services, commission, repairs and maintenance, rent and lease charges, travel and incidental

costs as well as provisions for bad debts. At Axel Springer AG this item also includes the costs

of services rendered by Group companies.

30. Income from equity holdings

This item includes income from profit and loss transfer agreements amounting to a 66 000

(previous year: a 420 000) in the Group and a 572 000 (previous year: a 985 000) at Axel

Springer AG. Income from affiliated companies amounted to a 1 864 000 (previous year: 

a 2 425 000) in the Group and a 8 271 000 (previous year: a 20 591 000) at Axel Springer AG.

31. Net interest balance

Group Axel Springer AG

in d ‘000 2003 2002 2003 2002

Income from financial asset loans 224 319 121 3 504
– of which from affiliated companies 20 31 0 3 355  

Other interest and similar income 12 874 8 747 14 735 17 790
– of which from affiliated companies 1 983 2 238 7 986 12 330  

Interest and similar expenses – 10 621 – 14 855 – 24 978 – 25 455
– of which to affiliated companies – 507 – 605 – 16 738 – 13 316

Total 2 477 – 5 789 – 10 122 – 4 161
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32. Expenditure on assumption of losses

The expenditure on assumption of losses amounted to a 217 000 (previous year: a 848 000) in

the Group and a 19 971 000 (previous year: a 91 551 000) at Axel Springer AG.

33. Taxes

Group Axel Springer AG

in d ‘000 2003 2002 2003 2002

Taxes on income 55 191 32 648 35 289 10 385

Other taxes 2 904 1 130 1 431 – 576

Total 58 095 33 778 36 720 9 809

The tax expenditure continues to be influenced by taking advantage of corporation tax losses

carried forward. There were also trade tax losses carried forward in 2002. The Group has 

deferred tax items as well.

Other notes

34. Statement about the German Corporate Governance Code

In December 2003, the company made the compliance statement of the Supervisory Board and

the Management Board with the German Corporate Governance Code in accordance with § 161

of Stock Corporation Act (AktG) available to the shareholders on a permanent basis on the

company website (www.axelspringer.de/InvestorRelations/CorporateGovernance). The compli-

ance statement is also printed on page 66 of the Annual Report.

35. Information about securities business transactions respectively share-
holdings in accordance with the mandatory reporting requirements of 
§ 15a and §§ 21f of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG)

In accordance with § 15a paragraph 1 sentence 1 of the WpHG, Friede Springer notified 

Axel Springer AG about the sale of 143 002 shares in the company (security identification 

no. 550 135) on October 15, 2003 at a price of a 58.00 per share.

Axel Springer AG also received notification about the following shareholdings in accordance

with the mandatory reporting requirements of § 21 of the WpHG:

• On November 10, 2003, Axel Springer AG was informed by Deutsche Bank AG, Frankfurt

am Main, that Deutsche Bank AG and its subsidiaries DB Capital Markets (Deutschland)

GmbH and VORNA Beteiligungs GmbH had each fallen below the thresholds of 25% and

10% of the Axel Springer AG voting rights on November 4, 2003 and now each holds voting

rights of 9.99% (10% minus 1 share). According to the notification, the voting rights are

attributable to Deutsche Bank AG and DB Capital Markets (Deutschland) GmbH in accord-

ance with § 22 paragraph 1 sentence 1 no. 1 of the WpHG.
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• Axel Springer AG was informed by H&F Rose Partners, L.P., Hamilton/Bermuda, on

November 11, 2003 that the latter had exceeded the thresholds of 5% and 10% of the Axel

Springer AG voting rights on November 4, 2003 and now holds voting rights of 15.62%.

• Axel Springer AG was informed by Tweedy Browne Company LLC, New York/USA on

November 12, 2003 that the latter had exceeded the threshold of 5% of the Axel Springer AG

voting rights on November 6, 2003 and is of the opinion that it now holds voting rights of

5.69%. According to the notification, the voting rights are attributable to Tweedy Browne

Company LLC in accordance with § 22 paragraph 2 sentence 1 of the WpHG.

• Axel Springer AG was informed by H&F Rose Investors Ltd., HFCP IV (Bermuda), L.P.,

H&F Investors (Bermuda), L.P. and H&F Corporate Investors IV (Bermuda) Ltd., all of

which have Hamilton/Bermuda as their business address, on November 13, 2003 that H&F

Rose Investors Ltd. and HFCP IV (Bermuda), L.P. had each exceeded the thresholds of 5%

and 10% of the Axel Springer AG voting rights on November 4, 2003 and now each holds

voting rights of 15.62% and that H&F Investors IV (Bermuda), L.P. and H&F Corporate

Investors IV (Bermuda), Ltd. had each exceeded the thresholds of 5% and 10% of the 

Axel Springer AG voting rights on November 4, 2003 and now each holds voting rights of

19.39%. According to the notification, the voting rights are in each case attributable in full

in accordance with § 22 paragraph 1 sentence 1 no. 1 of the WpHG.

• Axel Springer AG was informed by Deutsche Bank AG, Frankfurt am Main, on November

25, 2003 that Deutsche Bank AG and its subsidiaries DB Capital Markets (Deutschland)

GmbH and VORNA Beteiligungs GmbH had each fallen below the threshold of 5% of the

Axel Springer AG voting rights on November 21, 2003 and now each holds voting rights 

of 0% (2 905 shares). According to the notification, the voting rights are attributable to

Deutsche Bank AG and DB Capital Markets (Deutschland) AG in accordance with § 22 

paragraph 1 sentence 1 no. 1 of the WpHG.

• Axel Springer AG announced on November 26, 2003 that it had exceeded the threshold of

5% of the Axel Springer AG voting rights and had reached the threshold of 10% of the 

Axel Springer AG voting rights on November 21, 2003. Therewith it holds 3 400 000 

own shares. The company is not, however, able to exercise the voting rights arising from

these company shares.

No other notifications were received by the company.
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36. Connections to shareholders who are classified as related parties

Number of Number of

Name of the shareholder directly held shares indirectly held shares

Axel Springer Gesellschaft für 
Publizistik GmbH & Co 17 000 010 0

Dr h.c. Friede Springer 3 402 184 17 000 010 1)

Axel Sven Springer 110 17 000 010 2)

1) Via Axel Springer Gesellschaft für Publizistik GmbH & Co, in which Friede Springer holds a 90% interest.
2) Via Axel Springer Gesellschaft für Publizistik GmbH & Co, in which Axel Sven Springer holds a 5% interest.

Axel Springer AG provided general administration services for Axel Springer Gesellschaft für

Publizistik GmbH & Co in the 2003 financial year and paid contributions to the German pen-

sion security fund for former employees on the basis of an agreement concluded on July 1,

1985. The amounts paid were minimal in each case.

There is an employment contract between Axel Springer AG and Axel Sven Springer (although

leave of absence has been agreed since September 2002).

Proposal for appropriation of the profits

The financial statements for the 2003 financial year report retained earnings of

a 80 890 406.

The Management Board proposes that a 36 720 000 of the retained earnings are used to

distribute a dividend and that the remaining amount of a 44 170 406 is transferred to the other

revenue reserves. This corresponds to a dividend for the financial year that began on January 1,

2003 and ended on December 31, 2003 of a 1.20 per share that qualifies to receive a dividend.

The own company shares held by Axel Springer AG do not qualify to receive a dividend.

Berlin, February 16, 2004

Axel Springer AG

(Dr Mathias Döpfner) (Rudolf Knepper)

(Hubertus Meyer-Burckhardt) (Steffen Naumann) (Dr Andreas Wiele)
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Independent Auditor’s Report

We have audited the financial statements (including the bookkeeping records) and the consolidated

financial statements of Axel Springer Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin, with combined notes and the com-

bined management report for the financial year from January 1 to December 31, 2003. According to

German commercial law, the Management Board of the company is responsible for compiling the

bookkeeping records and for preparing these documents. Our assignment is to make a judgement

about the financial statements (including the bookkeeping records) and the consolidated financial 

statements as well as the combined management report on the basis of the audit we have completed.

We have made our audit of the financial statements and the consolidated financial statements in accord-

ance with § 317 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and observing the principles governing the

proper conduct of audits as issued by the German Institute of Auditors (IDW). According to these regu-

lations and principles, the audit must be planned and implemented in such a way that inaccuracies and

violations which have substantial impact on the picture of the net worth, financial position and earnings

situation presented by the financial statements and the consolidated financial statements (in compliance

with the principles of proper bookkeeping) and by the combined management report are identified with

sufficient certainty. Information about the business operations and the economic and legal environment

of the company and the Group as well as expectations about possible mistakes are taken into account

when specifying the audit procedures. The effectiveness of the internal accounting control system and

the supporting evidence confirming the information provided in the bookkeeping records, financial

statements, consolidated financial statements and joint management report are checked mainly by

taking random samples in the course of the audit. The audit consists in the case of the financial state-

ments of an evaluation of the accounting principles applied and in the case of the consolidated financial

statements of an evaluation of the financial statements of the companies included in the consolidated

financial statements, the specification of the companies consolidated and the accounting and consoli-

dation principles applied and for both sets of financial statements an evaluation of the main elements 

of company management by the Management Board as well as an assessment of the overall presentation

of the financial statements, the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report.

We are of the opinion that our audit forms a reliable enough basis for making a sound judgement.

Our audit has not led to any objections being raised.

In our considered opinion, the financial statements and the consolidated financial statements comply

with the principles of proper bookkeeping and present a true and fair picture of the net worth, financial

position and earnings situation of Axel Springer Aktiengesellschaft, Berlin, and the Group. The com-

bined management report gives an appropriate overall description of the situation of the company and

the Group and presents the future risks in an accurate way.

Hamburg, February 16, 2004

PwC Deutsche Revision

Aktiengesellschaft

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Nienborg ppa. Wilke

Auditor Auditor
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Audiotex
Automatic processing of added-value voice and fax services in landline or mobile
phone networks.

Classified ads business
Small ads that generally appear in daily newspapers arranged in specific categories,
e.g. jobs, property and cars.

Content marketing
Sale or licensing of content for different media, e.g. internet, television, newspapers
or magazines.

Content production
Production of content for different media, e.g. internet, television, newspapers or
magazines.

Contract printing
Production of printing orders for third parties to increase profitability by utilizing 
free capacities.

Digitization
Conversion of creative output that has already been used for print media to 
electronic media, e.g. internet, television or radio.

Free advertiser
Publication that appears periodically and is financed exclusively by advertising 
revenues.

General-interest magazine
Magazine which in contrast to a ➙ special-interest magazine aims to reach a wide
public.

Gross advertising revenues
Revenues generated by advertisers as a result of the placement of advertisements.
Gross advertising revenues do not take any rebates, discounts or other price
reductions into account that are granted to advertisers and agencies.

IVW
German circulation auditing organization.

Licensed edition
Print medium that appears on the basis of permission granted by a licensor to
duplicate or perform works that are protected by copyright.

Newsstand paper
Newspaper which in contrast to a ➙ subscription newspaper is distributed via
retail outlets.

Offset printing
Printing process that works on the principle that oil and water do not mix. The 
printing areas on the printing plate repel water and attract the greasy ink, while 
the non-printing areas attract water and repel the greasy ink.

Online marketing company
Company that has specialized in the marketing of advertising facilities in the 
internet.

Page impressions
Important criterion for analysing the ➙ reach of websites. Page impressions are an
accurate measure of how often the individual pages of a site are viewed by internet
users.

Paid content
Content in the internet for which the user has to pay.

Portal
Websites covering a wide range of different subjects that help users to navigate the
internet. Classic portals developed out of search engines and cover the entire
range of internet services. Special portals such as car or book portals try to cover
the complete range of their target group’s interests via a joint entry platform.

Reach
Percentage of a target group that is reached at least once by an advertising vehicle
or a combination of advertising vehicles.

Rotogravure printing
Printing process in which the printing areas are recessed in a cylinder, while the
non-printing areas are raised. 

Special-interest magazine
Magazine which in contrast to a ➙ general-interest magazine covers highly specific
subjects.

Subscription newspaper
Newspaper which in contrast to a ➙ newsstand paper is distributed primarily by
delivery.

Teletext
Non-interactive services which distribute texts and graphics via television.
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Added value
Difference between the total production value and the value of the intermediate
input at previous stages of production.

Cash flow
Cash surplus generated in a period.

Consolidated companies
The companies in a Group that are included in the consolidated financial state-
ments.

Corporate governance
Standard international term for arrangements by which the management of a com-
pany limited by shares is controlled. They are supposed to promote transparency
and thus confidence in the company management on the part of investors and
other stakeholders.

Derivative financial instruments
Highly liquid standardized financial instruments, such as options and futures, that
can be used to reduce the interest and exchange rate risk.

DVFA/SG income/loss
Earnings indicator that is determined in accordance with the recommendations
made by the German Association for Financial Analysis and Investment Con-
sultancy (DVFA) and Schmalenbach-Gesellschaft (SG). The calculation system
focusses on the generation of an informative standardized earnings indicator that 
is adjusted to eliminate extraordinary items.

D&O insurance
Liability insurance that covers management and all staff in board functions 
(directors & officers) against claims made on them in connection with their 
corporate responsibilities.

EBITA
Abbreviation for Earnings before Interest, Tax and Amortization. The standard 
international indicator of corporate earnings.

EBITA return
Ratio of ➙ EBITA to sales.

Equity ratio
Ratio of equity to total capital.

Fixed assets cover
Ratio of equity to fixed assets.

Free float
The part of the share capital that is held by shareholders who in both absolute and
relative terms own a small proportion of the shares.

Funds (e.g. in the statement of cash flows)
➙ Liquid assets of the company.

German Accounting Standards Committee (DRSC)
Organization behind the German Standardisation Council (DSR), a private body
instituted by the German government with independent experts as members. The
DSR compiles accounting standards about major corporate accounting and valua-
tion issues, taking international accounting principles into particular consideration.

ISIN
Abbreviation for International Securities Identification Number, which is designed to
guarantee the clear identification of securities all over the world and is supposed to
replace the national securities identification numbers.

Joint venture
Form of co-operation in which the venture is established and managed by two or
more legally independent companies.

Liquid assets
A company’s cash in hand and current account deposits plus funds that are 
available at short notice, such as marketable securities or overnight money and
time deposits.

Net anticipated loss potential
Value determined in the context of ➙ risk management which is the product of the
size of the loss and the probability of loss occurrence.

Net income/loss for the year
The difference in the income statement between company income and expenditure
after the deduction of taxes.

Official share price
In contrast to the quotation that changes constantly during the stock exchange
session, the price of a share that is determined officially on only one occasion
during the session.

Operating result
Earnings indicator which is adjusted to eliminate factors that are not part of the
company’s actual business operations.

Option
Right to buy (call option) an agreed object from or sell (put option) an agreed object
to the contracting party at a price arranged in advance within a specified period or
at a specific time.

Return on equity
Ratio of ➙ net income for the year to the balance sheet equity deployed.

Risk manual
Record of all the findings of the risk analysis (risk identification and risk valuation). 
A risk manual provides information about the risk status of a company in a concise
form.

Risk management
Systematic procedure adopted by the management with the aim of being able to
identify, analyze, value and control risks that are a threat to the company.

Share with no par value
Share without a par value, which expresses the holding as a specific proportion of
the equity of the company.

Statement of cash flows
Period statement which, in contrast to the balance sheet, shows fund movements
rather than asset and capital positions.
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50% Ostsee-Zeitung 
GmbH & Co. KG,
Rostock
Capital: EUR 5.114 million

100% OZ-Lokalzeitungs- 1)

Verlag GmbH,
Rostock
Capital: EUR 0.026 million

100% Axel Springer Young 1)8)

Mediahouse GmbH,
Munich
Capital: EUR 0.05 million

100% Finanzen Verlagsgesell- 
schaft für Kapitalmarktin-
formationen mbH, Munich
Capital: DEM 0.2 million

100% Axel Springer
Presse S.A.S.,
Paris/France
Capital: EUR 5.1 million

100% AS Auto-Verlag GmbH, 1)8)

Hamburg
Capital: EUR 0.025 million 

100% Bergedorfer Buchdruckerei 9)

von Ed. Wagner (GmbH & Co.),
Hamburg
Capital: DEM 1.0 million

50% Leipziger Verlags- und 9)

Druckereigesellschaft
mbH & Co. KG, Leipzig
Capital: EUR 21.0 million

100% HOBBY PRESS S.A.,
Madrid/Spain
Capital: EUR 1.2 million

100% Axel Springer Young 5)

Mediahouse a.s.,
Prague/Czech Republic
Capital: CZK 1.0 million 

24.5% Kieler Zeitung Verlags- und
Druckerei KG-GmbH & Co.,
Kiel
Capital: DEM 1.8 million

23.438% A. Beig Druckerei u. 
Verlag GmbH & Co. KG,
Pinneberg
Capital: EUR 3.68 million

49% Lübecker Nachrichten 
GmbH,
Lübeck
Capital: EUR 1.6 million

24.8% "Lühmanndruck" Harburger
Zeitungsgesellschaft 
mbH & Co. KG, Hamburg
Capital: DEM 1.0 million

100% AS Zeitschriften Berlin 1)8)

GmbH,
Berlin
Capital: EUR 0.025 million

100% Axel Springer France
S.A.S.,
Puteaux/France
Capital: EUR 47.6 million

50% EMAP France / Axel Springer
(EMAS) S.E.N.C., 
Paris/France
Capital: EUR 0.1525 million

94% Népújság GmbH, 
Békéscsaba/Hungary
Capital: HUF 75.0 million

94% Petöfi Zeitungs- und 
Buchverlag GmbH,
Kecskemét/Hungary
Capital: HUF 65.0 million 

100% Les Publications 
Grand Public SAS,
Levallois Perret/France
Capital: EUR 26.6 million

Publishers

100% Weltkunst Verlag GmbH, 1) 7)

Munich
Capital: DEM 0.5 million

100% AS Osteuropa GmbH, 5)

Berlin
Capital: EUR 0.026 million

100% Axel Springer Praha a.s., 5)

Prague/Czech Republic
Capital: CZK 2.368 million

95% ZAO "Axel Springer 5)

Russia", 
Moscow/Russia
Capital: RUB 68.946 million 

L I S T  O F  E Q U I T Y  H O L D I N G S

100% Berliner Wochenblatt 1)

Verlag GmbH,
Berlin
Capital: EUR 0.06 million

100% "Sächsischer Bote" 1)

Wochenblatt Verlag 
GmbH, Dresden
Capital: DEM 0.05 million

100% Punkt Direktvertriebs        
GmbH,
Berlin
Capital: DEM 0.101 million

75% Niendorfer Wochenblatt 
Verlag GmbH & Co. KG,
Hamburg
Capital: DEM 0.04 million

100% WBV Wochenblatt Verlag
GmbH,
Hamburg
Capital: EUR 1.73 million

100% 'Axel Springer Verlag' 1)8)

Beteiligungsgesellschaft 
mbH, Berlin
Capital: EUR 9.87356 million

100% Ullstein GmbH, 1)8)

Berlin
Capital: EUR 3.2 million

50% Jahr Top Special 9)

Verlag GmbH & Co. KG,
Hamburg
Capital: EUR 2.01 million

100% Koralle Verlag GmbH, 6)

Hamburg
Capital: DEM 0.15 million

50% Cora Verlag GmbH 9)

& Co. KG,
Hamburg
Capital: EUR 0.102 million

100% Axel Springer 1)5)

Medien Service 
GmbH, Berlin
Capital: EUR 0.026 million

100% Ullstein Media 1)8)

Marketing GmbH,
Berlin
Capital: EUR 0.03 million
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100% Axel Springer Polska 
Sp.zo.o.,
Warsaw/Poland
Capital: PLN 5.0 million 

100% Handelszeitung und  
Finanzrundschau AG,
Zurich/Switzerland
Capital: CHF 0.5 million 

70.25% Grupa Wydawnicza
Axel Springer Sp.zo.o.,

29.75% Warsaw/Poland
Capital: PLN 1.7 million

100% Handelszeitung 
Fachverlag AG,
Zurich/Switzerland
Capital: CHF 0.2 million 

100% KH Invest Investitions- 
beratung GmbH,
Budapest/Hungary
Capital: HUF 197.43 million 

100% Zöld Újság Massen- 4)

medien- und Verlags-AG,
Budapest/Hungary
Capital: HUF 100.0 million

93.52% Axel Springer-Ungarn 
GmbH,
Tatabánya/Hungary
Capital: HUF 281.8 million 

92.93% AXEL SPRINGER-
BUDAPEST GmbH,
Budapest/Hungary
Capital: HUF 30.0 million 

100% Postabank Press  
Werbeagentur für Anzei-
genorganisation AG, 
Budapest/Hungary
Capital: HUF 148.0 million 

88.5829% AKTUELL Presse-Fern- 
sehen GmbH & Co. KG,

10.0815%2) Hamburg
Capital: DEM 100.36 million

6.86% KG Hamburg 1 Fernsehen       
Beteiligungs GmbH & Co.,
Hamburg
Capital: DEM 10.0 million

100% Axel Springer TV 1) 8)

Productions GmbH,
Hamburg
Capital: DEM 0.25 million 

5.6% ProSiebenSAT.1 3)

Media AG,
5.9% Unterföhring

Capital: EUR 194.4864 million

100% AS Interactive GmbH,
Hamburg
Capital: EUR 0.052 million

63% Bild.T-Online.de AG 9)

& Co. KG, 
Berlin
Capital: EUR 1.0 million

100% AS Content GmbH, 1) 8)

Hamburg
Capital: EUR 0.025 million

74.9% Immonet GmbH,  5)

Hamburg
Capital: EUR 0.05 million

100% AS Venture GmbH, 1) 8)

Berlin
Capital: EUR 7.5 million

100% AS TV-Produktions- und 
Vertriebsgesellschaft mbH,
Hamburg
Capital: DEM 0.1 million

100% Schwartzkopff TV-Pro- 9)

ductions GmbH & Co. KG,
Hamburg
Capital: EUR 0.026 million

Equity holdings in  
7 radio stations

25% buecher.de 
GmbH & Co. KG,
Augsburg
Capital: EUR 0.5 million

Electronic Media
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100% VVDG Verlags- und 1) 2)8)

Industrieversicherungs-
dienste GmbH, Berlin
Capital: DEM 0.15 million

100% ASV Direktmarketing 1)8)

GmbH,
Berlin
Capital: DEM 0.05 million

74.9% GMZ Druckerei 9)

GmbH & Co., 
Berlin
Capital: DEM 6.0 million

100% Axel Springer Verlag
Vertriebsgesellschaft mbH,
Hamburg
Capital: DEM 0.262 million

66.19% Buch- und Presse- 9)

Großvertrieb Hamburg 
GmbH & Co. KG, Hamburg
Capital: EUR 0.356 million

32% Presse-Vertrieb Pfalz
GmbH & Co. KG, 
Frankenthal
Capital: DEM 0.5 million

100% ZZ-Kurier Gesellschaft 1)5)8)

für Zeitungs- und Zeitschrif-
tenvertrieb mbH, Hamburg
Capital: DEM 0.05 million

Equity holdings 
8 wholesale companies 
in the new German states

49.48% V.V. Vertriebs-Vereinigung
Berliner Zeitungs- und 
Zeitschriften Grossisten 
GmbH & Co. KG, Berlin
Capital: EUR 0.11 million

100% PPS Presse-Programm- 
Service GmbH,
Berlin
Capital: EUR 0.026 million

24.5% Kieler Zeitung GmbH & Co.
Offsetdruck KG,
Kiel
Capital: DEM 5.0 million

Companies consolidated:

Fully consolidated

Consolidated on a pro rata basis

1) Control/profit and loss transfer agreement with the parent
company. 

2) Via 'Axel Springer Verlag' Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH,
Berlin.

3) Via SAT.1 Beteiligungs GmbH, Mainz and Berlin.
4) 82.85% via KH Invest Investitionsberatung GmbH, Buda-

pest/Hungary, and Postabank Press Werbeagentur für
Anzeigenorganisation AG, Budapest/Hungary.

5) Consolidated for the first time.
6) Deconsolidated with effect from April 1, 2003.
7) Deconsolidated with effect from September 30, 2003.
8) § 264 Abs. 3 of the German Commercial Code (HGB) was

applied.
9) § 264b of the German Commercial Code (HGB) was app-

lied.

Distribution Further equity holdings



Financial calendar 

Annual results press conference February 26, 2004

Annual shareholders’ meeting April 14, 2004

Interim report January-March 2004 May 2004

Interim report January-June 2004 August 2004

Interim report January-September 2004 November 2004

Share detail

in c 2002 2003

Dividend 0.65 1.20

DVFA/SG income 0.76 1) 2.38

Year-end price 49.2 70.0

Highest price 70.8 72.0

Lowest price 40.0 41.0

Average price 55.5 52.0

Security identification number 550 135

ISIN DE0005501357

Reuters SPRGn.F

Bloomberg SPR GR

1) Adjusted to take account of companies deconsolidated at the end of 2003 and

sold at the beginning of 2004.

For more information, please contact:

Axel Springer AG

Investor Relations

E-Mail: ir@axelspringer.de

Axel-Springer-Platz 1

20350 Hamburg

Telephone: + 49 (0)40/3 47-2 67 99/2 55 41

Fax: + 49 (0)40/3 47-2 42 89

Axel-Springer-Straße 65

10888 Berlin

Telephone: + 49 (0)30/25 91-7 74 20/7 74 21

Fax: + 49 (0)30/25 91-7 74 22

The Annual Report and 

further information about 

Axel Springer are also available 

on the internet:

www.axelspringer.de

Design:

HGB Hamburger Geschäftsberichte 

GmbH & Co. KG

Photos:

Marco Moog Photography, Hamburg

Portraits page 10 f.:

Ralf Tooten, Hamburg
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